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Registered office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
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Kowloon, Hong Kong
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B OF ¥ OB O B A A
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RESULTS
¥4
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZH="+T—HIFEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
ZR-TAE | 2R ZE-FF ZZFWE ZRFAE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T#C T T#C
TURNOVER BEH
Contract revenue HHBA 2,936,582 2,581,906 2,038,850 2,140,998 2,064,944
Property gross rental income MM A WAL 20,859 18,551 15,943 11,687 13,314
2,957,441 2,600,457 2,054,793 2,152,685 2,078,258
Contract costs A HI A (2,777,639)|  (2,390,991)  (1,901,867)  (2,024,350)  (1,940,307)
Property expenses EL B (1,268) (1,085) (894) (1,561) (1,283)
Gross profit By 178,534 208,381 152,032 126,774 136,668
Other income and gains FoAt e A S M 28 98,211 181,179 129,601 16,387 40,609
Administrative and other expenses  £7 3 J Fo Al B 3% (58,989) (55,437) (45911)  (213,655) (50,611)
Finance costs MHEN (7,396) (5,617) (7,319) (18,808) (33,160)
Share of profits and losses of JEE A e [ 4 o] 48
jointly-controlled entities Z i F R e R 44,760 10,993 152 106 -
Income tax BiIE (36,026) (55,163) (36,386) 9,947 (17,408)
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) A () 219,094 284,336 192,169 (79,249) 76,098
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
85K UL %
At 31 March
H=H=+—H
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
SR 2R ZF-FF ZFZThE ZZFNE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tk T Tt T
Investment properties REME 953,520 859,674 692,226 471,892 613,104
Property, plant and equipment LIE B Y &L 294,700 274,555 262,300 132,121 135,965
Properties held for development HAEgRzME 250,000 251,806 - 127,000 115,500
Investments in jointly-controlled entities 1% [Fl 4 il & # 1 1% & 111,211 11,251 258 106 -
Current assets g E 1,180,503 063,771 667,769 678,182 700,160
Liabilities A (1,671,905)|  (1,162,742)  (1,012,289) (991,236)  (1,070,212)
Net assets FHE 1,118,029 898,315 610,264 418,065 494,517
Issued capital ST IRA 37,459 37,419 37,187 37,182 37,132
Reserves i fl 1,080,570 860,896 573,077 380,883 457,385
Total equity AR 1,118,029 898,315 610,264 418,065 494,517
2 O 1 1 I 1 2 Annual Report
AR R A
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 1 5 B

e  Turnover for 2011/12 increased by 13.7% to HK$2,957 2011/128 2 B £ M295TE W 0 » &
million from HK$2,600 million for 2010/11. 2010/114F JE 2.26.00f8 # T W M 13.7% o

e Net profit for 2011/12 decreased by 22.9% to HK$219 2011/124F BE 2 i ) i 8 25 2. 1915 ¥ o0 > B
million from HK$284 million for 2010/11. 2010/114F 2 2. 8408 #0184 22.9%

®  Basic earnings per share for 2011/12 decreased to HK14.6 2011/124F Ji 2 B JB 1 A 28 R 25 140941l
cents, as compared to HK19.0 cents for 2010/11. 2010/1 14 BE B 25 19.0% A1l ©
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#moA OB OB A R A F

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EV £ e

Turnover (HK$ million)

Profit (loss) (HK$ million)

BEB (FEHEBL) BAIOE ) (A &%)
3,000 y 300
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7 4
2,000 200 Z
4 4% % 4 7
1,500 / / / 150 % 4
1,000 100
500 50 g
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2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

PERFORMANCE X HiRB

AR 201 1/124 FE Z 55 & 8 B R29.57M
I > $82010/114F BE 2.26.004% # 0 n13.7% o
SR > 323 v R K R B BT AR B R
s AR ) 2 2 ) e RO A A WA 12010/ 1 147
J¥ 2 284,336,000 7T T :22.9%F2011/1248 JE 2
219,094,000% JT °

The Group’s consolidated turnover increased by 13.7% to
HK$2,957 million for 2011/12 from HK$2,600 million for
2010/11. However, affected by the high inflation and rising
costs, 2011/12 has seen a 22.9% decrease in the Group’s
consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company to HK$219,094,000 from HK$284,336,000 for
2010/11.

R R R B (2010711 ¢ JE) o

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final

dividend (2010/11: nil).

7 2011/12 e
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
N8

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contract Works

The Group’s contract works segment has recorded a turnover
of HK$2,937 million for 2011/12, increased by 13.7% from
HK$2,582 million for 2010/11. However, gross profit margin
decreased to 5.4% for 2011/12 from 7.4% for 2010/11, which
was largely caused by the increased material costs and wages.
As a result, the overall segment profit from contract works
decreased by 16.7% to HK$159 million for 2011/12 from
HK$191 million for 2010/11.

Besides our wholly-owned subsidiaries, we also engage in
contract works through jointly-controlled entities. For
2011/12, our share of profits of the jointly-controlled
entities, net of tax, amounted to HK$44,760,000, increased
significantly from HK$10,993,000 for 2010/11. The increase
is primarily attributable to our share of profit of the Leighton-
Able Joint Venture, in which we have 49% interest and which
undertakes the contract for the design and construction of
North Lantau Hospital.

During 2011/12, we secured an impressive amount of
significant contracts from both the public and private sectors.
As a result, we are much delighted to report that the aggregate
contract value of our Group’s contracts on hand has well
exceeded HK$10 billion, which indeed marks a milestone
in the history of our development and reflects the concerted
efforts of our entire staff and management team. In addition,
the aggregate outstanding value of contracts on hand at 31
March 2012 has also exceeded HK$7 billion, which doubles
the corresponding amount at 31 March 2011. We expect these

jobs on hand will complete in two to four years.

8 2011/12
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A4 2 A # TR A R 201 1/124F E 8% 4 A
29.37f5 W 0 Z 8 LA » 201071 148 2 25.824%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
N8

Acquisition

On 2 December 2011, we completed the acquisition of 40%
interest in Team Great Limited, which in turn holds 100%
interest in Fungs E & M Engineering Company Limited
(“Fungs”), a private company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability, for an aggregate cash consideration
of HK$55.2 million. Fungs specialises in electrical and
mechanical engineering works and has been one of the
Group’s subcontractors for years. In view of Fungs’ satisfactory
track records and quality of works as well as the expected
synergy to be achieved by the vertical integration with Fungs,
we believe that the acquisition of Fungs has provided us with
an exceptional opportunity to expand our scope of contract

works.

Property Investment and Development

Our investment properties were valued at an aggregate
value of HK$953,520,000 as of 31 March 2012 (2011:
HK$859,674,000) by independent professional valuers.

As a result of the annual revaluation, we posted an
aggregate gain of HK$90,581,000 for 2011/12 (2010/11:
HK$160,001,000) on changes in fair value of investment

properties.

To better tap its potential, we had applied to the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) Government for
the lease modification for the purposes of the redevelopment
of the site at No. 9 Belfran Road, Kowloon into a block
of residential building with a total gross floor area around
1,465 square metres. In February 2012, the HKSAR
Government approved our plan with the offer of a premium of
HK$65,450,000 payable for the lease modification. Subsequent
to 31 March 2012, the Group has paid the premium and
completed the relevant transaction for the lease modification.

We expect to complete the redevelopment in or around 2014.

The projects for the redevelopment of the sites at Nos. 92A-
C Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong into residences and Nos. 123-
127 Tung Choi Street, Kowloon into a hotel are progressing

satisfactorily.

9 2011/12

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A W & 7

e Ik

W_F——F T _H_H - REFEAHSL
55,200,000% & Z A > 58 B i Team Great
LimitedZ40%ME 2% » Team Great Limited¥5 6
B TRRARA RN (TH K ])Z100%ME « ¥ K
Ji—HR BB ML 2 AANFRAF > HP R
HERTRE - EAREESERZFHAR - FR
FBERAAMBZEGETHEER > WHERIH
A 41 1) B A PG B AR T B B 2 o AR
AR 15 A I U PG A A R [ RS — A T S
TAREBBRGH TR AR -

IEX /S &Y
RoB-THEZA=ZT—H s REAZREDE
H8OP S B 3 A B AR > 484E2£953,520,000% 78
TR —4F 1 859,674,000%TC) o

A EAGR > ARE M ERIF2011/124E A B #
& 2N PR A 5 B 2 2R A 3590,581,000% I8
(2010/114E ¥ : 160,001,000 7C) ©

T BRI R 2% > FRAM 1R A v A AT B (A v
PRI BOM B E T UBE 2R ok 2 s L > H
V1A s T % R % b M % — Wk 08 ABE TET TR K 401,465
FHARZEBKRE - R _F—HFETH > Fik
7 L B RT e o M Z 5 > SR b G T A
465,450,000 70 o R " B—4E=ZHA=+—H
1% > A A 1) O 4 Al 1 3 52 T R L 3248 5T 2 &2
S o FRAM T E B R — Y 4R Bk AR SE R o

PR B EHRRBEOLAZNCHE 2 ETIEHA kL
FEIE AR AT 123- 12705 2 W ETH H 2 e i )%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
N8

PROSPECT

In October 2011, HKSAR Chief Executive, Mr. Donald
Tsang delivered his final policy address in which he puts
forward various new housing polices, such as the resumption
of the “Home Ownership Scheme”, the development of East
Kowloon as another core business district, the extension
of measures to revitalize vacant or under-utilised industrial

buildings through redevelopment or wholesale conversion, etc.

Furthermore, the new Chief Executive-Elect Mr. C.Y. Leung,
who will begin his five-year term on 1 July 2012, has pledged

to increase land supply and build more public housing.

With the HKSAR Government outlining a series of housing
projects and the upcoming housing policies to be pushed
ahead by the new Chief Executive-Elect, the outlook of the
construction and engineering industry looks promising in the

near to medium future.

The management will keep up efforts to grasp these
opportunities and bid for more jobs to sustain the Group’s
profitability. Nevertheless, with the recent global economic
upheavals lingering, the management will remain cautiously
optimistic and vigilant against threats of inflation and rising

wages.

10 2011/12
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# Ok A W & 7
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PR BB ETEIRE Y L
e B R AT M R AR I BOHR > B2t B R B
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#moA OB OB A R A F

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
N8

APPRECIATION WES

On behalf of the Directors, I would like to extend our AA#REHEFGHAREHLBEETHABERET
gratitude and sincere appreciation to all management and staff 1 H 955 J) BLED K S AS 24 =] 2 8 B o1 2 R B DA
members of the Group for their hard work and dedication and ~ #4# &

all the shareholders of the Company for their support.

On behalf of the Board R 3y

Ngai Chun Hung B 90

Chairman FW

Hong Kong, 15 June 2012 HE > _F A +HA

u 2011/12 e
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#moH B K

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
P 3 Bt 2

Address
Hhk

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2012
AEMR_F - ARAZWE

I.  Properties in Hong Kong
REEZYE

1. Shop Nos. G29A2, G28, G65, G64A and G64B, G27A
and G27B, G26A and G26B on Ground Floor of Portion B,
Argyle Centre, Phase 1, No. 688 Nathan Road,

No. 65 Argyle Street, Mongkok, Kowloon

JUTE I £4 5 B 6885 » Rl B & 655 »

HE A4 O — BIBBL L FG29A2 ~ G28 ~ G65 »
G64A ~ G64B ~ G27A ~ G27B ~ G26A K G26BHE fili

2. Shop Nos. 5 and 6 and Storeroom 3,
1st Floor, Fou Wah Centre, No. 210 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
B ZEE L E21098 F # oo
1ABES T 655% il B35 T 4 8

3. No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong
AW ILHIE T Z 1555

4. No. 157 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong
BB AT Z 15795

5. Garden Suite No. 37B of House 37 and Car Parking
Space No. 78 on Platform A of Forest Hill,
No. 31 Lo Fai Road, Tai Po, New Territories
T K il R R 3 1 % AT T LU TR 7R
379EBAE W £ 5 AT & 785K IH B AL

13 2011/12

iR

Use

W

Shops
T il

Shops
7 il

Office

WA=

Office
WA=

Residential
£

Annual Report
4

¥
Percentage held
Tenure by the Group
A ¥ A
i3] [iFid’4
Medium term 100%
lease
W RLAY
Medium term 100%
lease
vf 1 AL 40
Medium term 100%
lease
vh 1 AR A0
Medium term 100%
lease
vh 11 #H £
Medium term 100%
lease
b LAY
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

®mnoH O Ok A W

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
P 3 Bt 2

Address

b ht:

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)
AEER _FZ-AE=H=E21T—BREZPE ED

1.  Properties in Hong Kong (continued)

REEZYE (8)

6. Flat E, 17th Floor, Tower 2, The Greenwood (Phase 1),
Laguna Verde, No. 8 Laguna Verde Avenue, Hung Hom,

Kowloon
JUHE AT B ¥ 358 G S 9% Vi 3 55 1|
BRBEEF (S5 1I0]) SE2 M1 THEE S

7. Car Parking Space Nos. 54 and 56 on Ground Floor,
Oxford Court, Nos. 24-26 Braemar Hill Road,
North Point, Hong Kong
A b A TS LB 24-26 5% SUbK B8 R 545%
5655 10 B AL

8. Unit B including carport(s) and garden, Riverain Bayside,
No. 3985 Tai Po Road Yuen Chau Tsai,
Tai Po, New Territories
TSR B R 2 B 50 Y A BE3.9.85 5% YA JE B L AL
AL AL N AE

9. 3987 Tai Po Road Yuen Chau Tsai,

Tai Po, New Territories

TS A 2 % 0 YN AF BE398THE

14 2011/12

Use

W

Residential

(G

Car park
HHLAL

Residential
1B

Residential
2

Annual Report
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Percentage held

Tenure by the Group
AR A
A "k

Medium term

lease

LA

Long

lease

Medium term

lease

AR

Medium term

lease

AR

100%

100%

100%

100%
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

®mnoH O Ok A W

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
P 3 Bt 2

Address Use

Hb hi: W

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)
AEER _FZ-AE=H=E21T—BREZPE ED

1.

111.

Investment Property in the People’s Republic of China

R NP ] P E S

Block M-K39, Sunshine Holiday Villas Residential
Yingchengzi Village, Badaling Town, Yangqing Country, =2
Beijing, People’s Republic of China

Hh g N B SEA  b  AE B R

J\ R S BB A G e AR H B SEM-K39

The real estate title certificate has yet to be obtained

o AR R

Properties Held for Development in Hong Kong

REEBRHRAEERZME
Front Portions on G/F to 6/F, and 7/F, and Roof of Residential
No. 1 Wood Road 3 =

Rear Portions on G/F to 4/F and 7/F and Roof of

No. 1 Wood Road 3

Front Portions on 1/F to 5/F and 7/F including the Roof of
No. 1A, Wood Road and

Rear Portions on 1/F to 6/F and 7/F including the Roof of
No. 1A, Wood Road, Hong Kong
BHBEAAHEBIGNE R T EM R THE RS

B ARE T E4 R TR RE

T VGRATT R B B S R TR & 3

B IBRAR P 1 Rotl R TR &

P 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport

A

Tenure

oS

N/A*
3

Long lease

Percentage held
by the Group
AEE A
"k

100%

100%
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®mnoH O Ok A W

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

ISR

Address

b bt

Proposed Use

ey iR

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

AT 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)

AEMR T -ZAEEA S B R AW (8D

IV. Properties under Development in Hong Kong

REEZE R

1. Nos. 123, 125, 127 Tung Choi
Mongkok, Kowloon

Hotel
W

Street,

(The Remaining Portion of Kowloon Inland Lot Nos.

1702, 1703 and 1704)
Site area:
Gross floor area:

Stage of development:

Expected completion date:

249.81 square meter
2,240 square meter
Concrete superstructure
completed and interior
finishing underway

2013

JUBEE A B AT 123 ~ 12512798
(JUBE N HL BEA5 1702 ~ 1703} 170458 5 B )

Mo A8 TH B
AR T A
B P B

THEHE T HH -

2. Nos. 92A-C, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong

(Inland Lot No. 7551)
Site area:
Gross floor area:

Stage of development:

Expected completion date:
BWHRAMIBEILAZEI2CHE
(M HLBE S 7551%%)

by B 1T

A8 A0 T

B b B

i SN UK

249.81°F J5 %
2,240 J5 %

B REY E 3
E AT N s

R TUE

Residential
%

1,393.53 square meter

1,996.35 square meter

Plans approved by Buildings

Department and site

formation to start in

the coming year
2013

1,393.53°FJi %
1,996.35°F J5 %

J2 52 5 O3 o A

o - TR Y AR AR R B

— L —
xR =

Annual Report
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A

Tenure

459

Long lease

Medium term

lease

I RLA

Percentage held
by the Group
AR A
"ok

100%

100%
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®mnoH O Ok A W

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
B

Address Proposed Use

B hik: i YR

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)
AEER _FZ-E=H=E1T—BRAEZPE ED)

IV. Properties under Development in Hong Kong (continued)

A 2R W3 (8

3. No. 9 Belfran Road, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon Residential
(Section C of Kowloon Inland Lot No. 3281) JEae=ct
Site area: 368.28 square meter
Gross floor area: 1,465 square meter
Stage of development: Lease modification approved

Expected completion date: 2014

JUBEAT SC H EL2F %%

(JUBE N Hb BE 45328158 CHE 43)

o 8 VA 368.28°F J5 >k
A8 i TR A 1,465 J5 %
BB - b A RT O A
FEER T H B TR AR

v 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %“fg%%lé}eport

A

Tenure

LS

Long lease

R

Percentage held
by the Group
AR A
"k

100%
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®mofH OB kK A B A& #

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

R T BT R B

At 31 March 2012, the gross and outstanding values of
the Group’s substantial contracts on hand amounted to

approximately HK$10,409 million and HK$7,280 million
respectively. Details of these substantial contracts are set out

M-F—"HE=ZHA=Z+—H > KEHZEK
FHAABMEBERTBEGHEMES AR
10,409,000,000% 7t % 7,280,000,000% 7t » I % H
RKFPHEAXNZAAMERBIWT ¢

below :
Projects Contract value
MH & U
HK$ million
H #ET
Building Construction
gl 2
Supply & Installation of Primary Structure and Provision of Attendance for Construction 52
of Guan Yin Statue, Tsz Shan Monastery Development at Ting Kok, Tai Po
T RHHAT 4 1 28 1L <7 B8 i T ) 0 B 5 O E D & 2 T A S 4R L R
Construction of a Secondary Boundary Fence and New Section of Primary Boundary Fence 179
and Boundary Patrol Road from Lok Ma Chau Control Point to Ng Tung River
il Bl 4 A T R 4 A 0 A 0 B T B (it % S UM A o ol S A A ) R TR
Construction of Columbarium and Garden of Remembrance at Kiu Tau Road, 428
Wo Hop Shek, Fanling, New Territories
TR R A B K K R AL A R B TR
Design and Construction of North Lantau Hospital, Phase 1 (note) 833
T 2 B b R WL B e o — 3 (7))
Construction of a Special School for the Physically Disabled in Area 16, Tuen Mun 221
R S 6 1 L — BT A5 BN R R R AR
Construction of an Integrated Teaching Building, CUHK 152
T HP SR B L — T A R KM
Main Contract for the Proposed Redevelopment of St. Paul’s Co-educational College (Phase 2) 177

B DR S 05 Lo vp B A U WO ) TR

: 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND
FRFHAHIBE

Projects Contract value
¥ H 8
HK$ million
i # #oT
Building Construction (Continued)
B 5 (8
New Campus Development of Harrow International School 582

Py W o AT A A AR

Carcass Work Contract for Proposed Property Development at TW7, Tsuen Wan West Station, 1,605
Tsuen Wan Town Lot No. 403, N.T.
V2 U SR R SR I (5T M Be4035%)

Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at Tung Tau Cottage Area East 384

RT3 A o 36 R 4 7 2 R e ) A 5 TR

Main Building Works for Redevelopment of Caritas Medical Centre, Phase 2 1,170
Wi R Re s I A FEAEE TR

Note: Project with a contract sum of HK$1,700 million being undertaken by — #F ¢ M H—ZRIFEEREZITHE » G BMI7TEB
Leighton—Able Joint Venture, an unincorporated company in which TG > A 42 ] A 4 0 — 2 PR I 8 A 49 % ME 25 o
49% interest is attributable to the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND
R T BT R B

Projects Contract value
X H FREE
HK$ million
H # T
Building Maintenance
B R %
Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Aided Schools, 331

Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for which the Education Bureau is Responsible
(Designated Contract Area: New Territories, Sham Shui Po and Sai Kung)

B s - RELRBERFTRATZESE - BT - L R R A A
(F55E I« BT ~ TRK R H)

Hospital Authority Term Contract for Minor Works 2011 for Kowloon East and Kowloon Central Clusters 130
T e A BHLR) JUHE R R U RE TP I AR TR 2 A A (R — —4R)

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works to Government 258
and Subvented Properties for which the Architectural Services Department is Responsible
(Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island, Lantau Island and Outlying Islands (South))

Rt MR E AT T - R R EZ N TR EN A
(FRE M : S - KB MBS

Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department 108
(Property Services Branch) is Responsible for the Government of the HKSAR
(Designated Area: Kowloon and Lantau Island)

PRI EF W EELHE) AT XA Z @ G4 (FE M : JuiE R oRE)

Term Contracts for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings 221
and Lands and other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department
(Property Services Branch) is responsible for the Government of the HKSAR
(Designated Contract Area: Kowloon City, Sai Kung and Outlying Islands (Sai Kung))
o - R RS REE (MEREE) AHZIET - LR YR WA K
(R I : JUBEYR - W R (D))

Term Contracts for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings 221
and Lands and other Properties for which the ASD (Property Services Branch)
is responsible for the Government of the HKSAR
(Designated Contract Area: Wong Tai Sin and Shatin)
o - RERAEEREEEWERER) A EZIET - R Rk
ZEM AR (R : 3R KD H)

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works for Provision of 309
Barrier-Free Access and Facilities to Government Premises Managed by Leisure and
Cultural Services Department for which the Architectural Services Department is
Responsible (Designated Contract Area : Hong Kong Island, Lantau Island and
Outlying Islands (South), Wong Tai Sin, Shatin, Kowloon City, Sai Kung and
Outlying Islands (Sai Kung))
A B B 5 F £ B 0 ph R 4 N SCAb BB A B BUR 35 b 2 R R A
B 2 N TRRE W A (HE R M s - Rl R ik B () ~ 3 ORAD -
WH -~ JURER - W R R (W E))
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND
R T BT R B

Projects Contract value
MH 1 & U
HK$ million
i # #oT
Building Maintenance (Continued)
M AR 2% (B0
Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works for Provision 257

of Barrier-Free Access and Facilities to Government Premises Managed by Leisure
and Cultural Services Department for which the Architectural Services Department
is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Sham Shui Po, Tsuen Wan, Kwai Tsing,
Kwun Tong, Mongkok, Yaumatei, Tsim Sha Tsui, Tai Po, North District,
Outlying Islands (North), Tuen Mun and Yuen Long)
A B B S F £ B0 o R 4 R AL B A B BURT 35 b 2 R R
A 2 ANE AR E A A (HRSE M I« OKBS ~ 250 - 3855 - BUE - HEAY - R -
RYPUE ~ K~ delw - BEE (db) ~ M R ICH)

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works for Provision of 335
Barrier-Free Access and Facilities to Government Premises Managed by
Government Departments other than Leisure and Cultural Services Department
for which the Architectural Services Department is Responsible
(Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island, Lantau Island and Outlying Islands (South))
R B B i 5 F £ B 0 ph R 4 R SCAL B DA A 2 BUR R 8 B BUR 35 L 2
T o 5 K B 2 AN TR A A (BRI AR~ RILL Rk 5 (RE))

Minor Works Term Contract to Buildings and Lands and Other Properties 178
for which the Architectural Services Departments is Responsible in Hong Kong

BEREARIMT - LRI bR MR TR Z W 5

Term Contract for the Design and Construction for Alterations, 223
Additions and Improvement Works for Hospitals

went S B ORI~ Rl E R B A

! 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

®mofH OB kK A B A& #

7
&

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND
R T BT R B

Projects Contract value
WH R E
HKS$ million

H # W T

Road and Drainage Works, Waterworks and Slope Works

TR LA R TR AR

Improvement to Hong Kong Central Mid-level and High Level Areas Water Supply 334
— Remaining Works, Construction of Service Reservoirs, Pumping Stations and
Associated Main Laying

8 B o I 2 1 B DAL e 3k K o5 R ) — R T AR — B T A e A ik sty B A R K 4 Rk

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3 — Mains in Wanchai District 348

B4 S G AR K A R 5 3 B — ¥ AT LK A TR

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3 — Mains on Hong Kong Island East 362
B3 B A KA 3 SRS B — W R ROK A TR

Provision of External Cable Construction Works and Outside Telecommunication Plant 70
Maintenance Services for PCCW
7] 7B R 2 R R 43 5 A TR A B AR AR R

I.L. 9018(H15) Lee Tung Street/McGregor Street, Wanchai, Hong Kong — Road Works 12
B AT R 8,25 Bk AF1LL. 9018(H15) b B F gt 2 3 I ole 3% T

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1 — Mains in West Kowloon, 616
Kwai Tsing and Tsuen Wan

B4 R AE K AE B 1 SR A Y B L] — JUBE DY - 2 AR TR

2 2011/12 3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

FRFHAHIBE

Projects

XH

Civil Engineering and Utilities Works

LR TR R A i TR

Civil Engineering Works Term Contract No. CWT E31 for PCCW
AR AR TR A A AR BECWT E31

Main Contract for Upgrading of Electricity Supply to Lok Man Sun Chuen
S RHTBR 4R TH B ) B A A

Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services of Telephone and
Broadband Installation (Phase II) for PCCW - Wanchai and Southern District
F ARG AR S AR S KR S T RO IR R ) — A R R I

Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services of Telephone and
Broadband Installation (Phase II) for PCCW — Kowloon West District
) T A A R Bl AR A AR Bl R R & R RO R AR E (CE ) — Ui [

Provision of Works for Integrated Blockwiring Infrastructure

1) 7 P2k P 3 A A0 S A A 2 s TR IR

Outstanding Contract Value — by project category
AR oE AT I — 3 H 2 58
By project category

#IH H 7+ 8

M Road, Drainage, Waterworks and Slope

TEE R TR KB TR R TR

M Building Construction

M 5

M Building Maintenance

MR

Civil Engineering and Utilities Works
bR TR o R T

23 2011/12 3

29%

AN

3%

12%

AN

56%

AN

Contract value
R E

HK$ million

H # T

60

76

72

75

30

HK$2,130 million
2,130 H B o

HK$208 million

208 H H5 s T

HK$847 million
847H EHsIT

HK$4,095 million
4,095 H TG
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Our construction and engineering works are principally carried

out by the Company’s major subsidiaries, Able Engineering
Company Limited (“Able”), Excel Engineering Company
Limited (“Excel”) and Gadelly Construction Company
Limited (“Gadelly”).

Able Engineering Company Limited
Substantial contracts completed by Able during 2011/12
included:

e Main Contract for the Proposed Rehabilitation of Yue
Kwong Chuen Phase 1 at 26 Aberdeen Reservoir Road,
Aberdeen

®  Design and Construction of a General Outpatient Clinic
and an Integrated Community Mental Health Support
Services Centre and a Long Stay Care Home in Tin Shui
Wai Area 109

e Conversion of Yau Ma Tei Theatre and Red Brick
Building into a Xiqu Activity Centre

e  Construction of District Open Space in Area 37, Tseung
Kwan O and Local Open Space in Area 25, Fanling/
Sheung Shui

® Proposed Redevelopment of Yuen Long Sports Complex

& 75 o] Jt

A AR B Yl S R TR A B A W) 2 e
AZRTERARAR (TZR]) - HiE TRARS
Al (MR 1) Bomps Al g 4 A = (T s A 1)
HAT -

RRTRERAN
H2011/124F % » RIRFTEZ ER G A B ¢

AW AT KB 265F WA 38 — Wl iE 1 TR

o RIKE109ME ¥ 18 B2 2 B BORS wh s FE 1L
R A D S B v TR ) L o L
TR

o UK il R IR e K% AL AR A I i ) O

o MRS T I Hb I AR T BOM B BOK SR
251 98 A R T M B TR

o HHEITWIEH G
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e Main Contract for Proposed Temporary Market at
T.K.O.T.L. No. 70 at No. 1 Lohas Park Road, Tseung
Kwan O, N.T.

e Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Area: Kwun
Tong, Mongkok and Yaumatei) (2008-2011)

e Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance & Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Area: Sham Shui
Po, Tsuen Wan & Kwai Tsing) (2008-2011)

e Term Contract for Design and Construction of
Alterations, Additions and Improvement Works for

Hospitals

During 2011/12, Able successfully secured a remarkable

number of substantial contracts.

Included in the new contracts obtained by Able in 2011/12 are
the following substantial building construction works with an
aggregate contract sum of HK$2,313 million:

e  Main Contract for the Proposed Redevelopment of St.
Paul’s Co-educational College (Phase 2)

e New Campus Development of Harrow International
School

e Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at
Tung Tau Cottage Area East

e Main Building Works for Redevelopment of Caritas
Medical Centre, Phase 2

In addition, following the satisfactory completion of several
term contracts in the past, during 2011/12, Able was further
awarded by the Architectural Services Department with eight
term contracts with an aggregate contract sum of HK$1,852
million. These new term contracts include alterations,
additions, maintenance and repair as well as minor works to

various Government buildings and properties.

o R S BE I L BE S TO5% FE S 1 9% B
B B 117 455

o BRI R R R B
o R R I M e A A (B
< L~ E A0 B ) (B A\
F )

o WE-mE- - RELECEEREARZIM
Tk R H A R 2 A (R
s JRY -~ W EET) (CFFNFEED
F——4F)

o WREHRCELER BB SO - I K KE TR
WA

A2011/124F 3 » RAR G BE B H ME KRG
# o

ZRP2011/12FE WA G A L0 T % E
2,313,000,000# 70 2 B KM H 3 TR -

o BEORERE D Lorp B AR O AL TR

o I IR I SR AR A R TR

o SRTH-V G I AR oy G R 5 R R T
i 5 TR
o WIEURBESE HIEE G 2 BREE T

BE A o BE 2 A 2 R oh 58 Ly A AR R
2011/124F 1 » LA — b i g S Bkt )\ o 4
1,852,000,000% 7C 2 & M & 4 » £ 55 25 BN A
FRHEZ B ~ g ~ PRAE A0 A 15 DL RN T

2 o
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Excel Engineering Company Limited
During 2011/12, substantial contracts satisfactorily completed
by Excel included:

e Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 2
— Mains in Tsuen Wan

e Proposed Slope Remedial Works at No. 50 Tai Hang
Road, Hong Kong

e (Carcass Work Contract for Proposed Residential
Development at Ma On Shan Area 77, S.T.T.L. No. 548,
New Territories.

On the other hand, during 2011/12, Excel was awarded the
following substantial contracts with an aggregate contract

value of HK$4,003 million:

e Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4
Phase 1 — Mains in West Kowloon, Kwai Tsing and Tsuen
Wan

e Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services
of Telephone and Broadband Installation (Phase II) for
PCCW - Wanchai and Southern District

e Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services
of Telephone and Broadband Installation (Phase II) for
PCCW — Kowloon West District

e Provision of Works for Integrated Blockwiring
Infrastructure

e (Carcass Work Contract for Proposed Property
Development at TW7, Tsuen Wan West Station,

Subsequent to 31 March 2012, Excel has further secured the
contract for Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains,
Stage 4 Phase 1 — Major Mains in Eastern New Territories
with the contract sum of HK$345 million.

Property Investment

For 2011/12, the Group recorded gross rental income of
HK$20,859,000, increased by 12.4% from HK$18,551,000 for
2010/11. The increase was primarily in line with the general

rising property market conditions in Hong Kong.

26 2011/12

HE THRARAY
A2011/124E 1 > MR I 58 Z RS A 45 -

o WM RAEBUKAFHEIEM B - WK T
i

o HWARIUESOMEAIHEAEE TR

o BELTTEAETVHERIEE 2 EEEERET

2

BEAh > BR2011/124F N > R 2 R DL T A A
4,003,000,000¥# TEZ B R A4 ¢

o W R BUKAT F E SRR BEAE Y - Ju e
VG~ EE R EEKE LR

o TAERNA PR At AR G A AR B R K A
TOSH LB B (58 ) — 847 S vl

o I AN AR AL A A AR Bl S & P AR
AR B RB (58 1) — JLRE VY [

o I SR A B AL A A T R AR A A R TR
i %5
o THEREEWM LR EERIEN

RER-ZHEZAZ AR RS
fEE1345,000,0009% 7 Z B e & 16 B K 45 5t # 55 4
R BE SR 139] — BT R R R 2K TR B4 -

WmERE

W2011/124F 8 » AR W 85 M & A
20,859,000% JG » #2010/114F 2 18,551,000% 7t
ETH12.4% - SR WA BT KRB EF B E T
B¥Ewmm b —
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 31 March 2012, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$359,326,000 (excluding pledged deposits
of HK$1,075,000), representing an increase by 26.6% from
2011 of HK$283,886,000 (excluding pledged deposits of
HK$1,075,000).

As a result of stepped up controls on working capital
management, the Group has noted improvements in the
liquidity position. Current ratio stood at 1.02 at 31 March
2012, representing a turnaround from a negative working
capital of HK$29,867,000 at 31 March 2011. Current ratio
is measured as total current assets divided by total current

liabilities.

Meanwhile, bank loans at 31 March 2012 increased by 37.9%
to HK$884,637,000, as compared to 2011 of HK$641,326,000.
The increase was primarily caused by the increased short-
term bank loans obtained to finance the working capital
requirement of the contract works. At 31 March 2012, the
Group’s net gearing was 46.9%, as compared to 39.7% for
2011. Net gearing ratio is measured as total bank borrowings
less pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents, divided by
total shareholders’ equity.

At 31 March 2012 and 2011, the Group’s bank borrowings
were primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
on a floating rate basis. Due to the increased bank loans,
interest paid and payable (before capitalisation) increased by
26.7% to HK$10,736,000 for 2011/12 from HK$8,472,000
for 2010/11. Interest of HK$3,340,000 for 2011/12 (2010/11:
HK$2,855,000) was capitalised and included in the carrying
amount of properties under development at 31 March 2012.
As a result, interest expense was HK$7,396,000 for 2011/12,
increased by 31.7% from HK$5,617,000 for 2010/11.

Our banking facilities, comprising primarily bank loans and
overdrafts, amounted to HK$1,626 million at 31 March 2012
(2011: HK$1,333 million), of which HK$678 million (2011:
HK$603 million) was unutilised.

27 2011/12

Yo %5 ] B

O & A B W B

MR- ZFEZH=Z1T—H » REFZBL4E KB
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Wt (A B C G Z 473K 1,075,000% 7T) B4
26.6% o

H A e A A P ) o ARSE M B B
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A T A T DA A B A AR o
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Charges on Assets
At 31 March 2012, the following assets of the Group were
pledged in favour of certain banks to secure the banking

facilities granted by those banks to the Group:

e investment properties with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$943,000,000 (2011: HK$849,850,000);

e land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$114,932,000 (2011: HK$118,204,000);

e hotel under construction with a carrying amount of
HK$174,839,000 (2011: HK$148,762,000);

e properties held for development with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$250,000,000 (2011:
HK$251,806,000);

e properties under development with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$42,223,000 (2011: Nil);

e properties held for sale with a carrying value of
HK$43,165,000 (2011: HK$41,166,000);

e time deposits amounting to HK$1,075,000 (2011:
HK$1,075,000); and

e the assignment of the Group's financial benefits under
certain contract works with total accounts receivable

amounting to HK$34,872,000 (2011: HK$44,847,000).

Contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2012, the Group had contingent liabilities in
relation to guarantees amounting to HK$63,317,000 (2011:
HK$32,102,000) in respect of performance bonds in favour of

contract customers.

In the ordinary course of the Group's construction business,
the Group has been subject to a number of claims due to
personal injuries suffered by employees of the Group or the
Group's subcontractors in accidents arising out of and in the
course of their employment. The directors are of the opinion
that such claims are well covered by insurance and would not
result in any material adverse impact on the financial position

or results and operations of the Group.
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STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 March 2012, the Group employed 717 full-time staff
in Hong Kong. The Group remunerates its staff based on
their performance and work experience and the prevailing
market rates. Staff benefits include mandatory provident fund,

medical insurance and training programmes.

The Company also maintains a share option scheme. The
purposes of the share option scheme are to provide incentives
for the full-time employees and executives, to recognise their
contributions to the growth of the Group and to provide
more flexibility for the Group in formulating its remuneration

policy.

LT e 5 TN 3R

REZR-ZHEZA=ZTH o AEEREEEH
TIAEWE T - AEEMEE T2RB - T
R R 2% BUAT W B MR AR DA E 2 THT - B T
) B9 SR e AR~ O PR B B B Nt o

BEAh > A2 B S COER AN B RE 8 > B AR B 4
iR B R ATBNE > MR EHARREBRRZ "
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. NGAI Chun Hung, aged 49, is the Chairman of
the Company. Mr. Ngai has extensive experience in the
construction industry. He is responsible for the management of
the Board and the strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Ngai
and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai, Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, are brothers-in-law.

Mr. YAU Kwok Fai, aged 46, is the Deputy Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Yau graduated
with First Class Honours Degree in Civil Engineering from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic and obtained a Master of Science
Degree with Distinction in Structural Steel Design from the
University of London and a Diploma of the Imperial College
of the United Kingdom. He is a Chartered Engineer and
a corporate member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the Institution of Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional Engineer
(Civil & Structural) and a Registered Structural Engineer.
Mr. Yau is responsible for formulating the policy and
overall development and the day-to-day management and
administration of the Group’s operations. Mr. Yau and Mr.

Ngai, Chairman of the Company, are brothers-in-law.

Mr. L1 Chi Pong, aged 55, is an Executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Li is the Managing Director of Excel
Engineering Company Limited and is responsible for its
overall management and operation. He graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic with a Higher Diploma in Civil
Engineering in 1979. He has worked in the construction
industry for 30 years and gained extensive experience in
the executive role in construction companies. He is the
Authorized Signatory for foundation, site formation works and
general building contractor of the Buildings Department. Mr.
Li is a member of the Contractors Registration Committee

Panel.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. SHEK Yu Ming Joseph, aged 67, is a Non-executive
Director of the Company. He is the Business Consultant of
the Company. Mr. Shek holds a Bachelor Degree in Civil
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He is a
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Fellow
of the Institution of Civil Engineers, an Authorised Person
(Engineer) and a Registered Structural Engineer. He has over
20 years experience in the executive role in construction
companies and has completed a large number of contracts for
the Hong Kong Government and the private sector. Mr. Shek
is a member of the Appeal Tribunal (Buildings Ordinance
Chapter 123), a member of the Registered Contractors’
Disciplinary Board (2002-2008), a member of Review Panel
under the Land (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Amendment)
Ordinance (2007-2010), a member of the Planning Sub-
Committee of the Land and Building Advisory Committee
of the Development Bureau (2007-2009), a Council Member
(1997-2008) and Chairman of Environmental Committee
(1995-2003) of the Hong Kong Construction Association.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor KO Jan Ming, aged 69, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. Professor Ko is the former
Vice President and Chair Professor of Structural Engineering
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and currently an
Emeritus Professor of the University and Senior Advisor of
its Faculty of Construction and Environment. Professor Ko
holds a Bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering and a Doctorate
Degree in Structural Engineering from the University of
Hong Kong. He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, the Institution of Structural Engineers of United
Kingdom, the American Society of Civil Engineers and the
Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences.
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Professor Ko was Chairman of the Accreditation Board (2001-
2006) of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (HKIE),
and the Chairman of Hong Kong Economic Cooperation
(APEC) and Engineering Mobility Forum (EMF) Monitoring
Committees (2006-2009). He is a Member of Construction
Industry Council (2007-2013), a Member of the Commission
on Strategic Development (2009-2012) and the Advisor of
the Beijing-Hong Kong Academic Exchange Centre. He was a
Governing Council Member of Construction Industry Institute
(Hong Kong) (2002-2008), a Council Member of The Hong
Kong Institution of Science (2002-2006), the President of The
Hong Kong Society of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics
(1999/2000), the President of The Hong Kong Association for
the Advancement of Science and Technology (2000/01) and
a Panel Member of the Appeal Tribunal in Buildings of the
HKSAR (1997-2004).

Professor Ko is the Co-chair of the Scientific Steering
Committee, State Key Laboratory on Structural Dynamics in
Bridge Engineering, Chongqging Communications Research
and Design Institute (2008-2012), and a Member of the
Scientific Steering Committee, State Key Laboratory on
Disaster Reduction in Civil Engineering, Tongji University

(2009-2013).

Professor Ko is the Editor-in-Chief of an International Journal
— Advances in Structural Engineering (1997-2003), Editor-in-
Chief (Asia-Pacific), International Journal — Smart Structures
and Systems, the Senior Consultant of the Editorial Board of
the Journal of Spatial Structures, a member of the Editorial
Boards of the Journal of Engineering Mechanics, Journal
of Earthquake and Engineering Vibration and Journal of
Hazards Prevention and Mitigation Engineering. He is the
President of Asian-Pacific Network of Centres for Earthquake
Engineering (2005-2007), a Vice President (2004-2007) and
Council Member of the International Society for Structural
Health Monitoring of Intelligent Infrastructures (ISHMII)
(2004-2011), and a Management Board Member of the Asian-
Pacific Network of Centres for Research in Smart Structures

Technology.
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Professor Ko was presented The President’s Award of HKIE
in 2006 and was inducted into the Hall of Fame of HKIE in
2010. He was presented The HKIE Gold Medal in 2011. In the
same year, Professor Ko was presented The Aftab Mufti Medal
by ISHMII in recognition of his lifetime achievement in civil

structural health monitoring.

The Hon IP Kwok Him, GBS, JP, aged 60, is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ip is a member
of the Legislative Council representing the District Council
functional constituency. He is presently a Deputy to the 11th
National People’s Congress of PRC for HKSAR, Chairman of
Panel on Home Affairs, Legislative Council, Advisor to the
Democratic Alliance for Betterment and Progress of Hong
Kong, Member of Central & Western District Council (Kwun
Lung). He is also Deputy Chairman of Hon Wah Educational
Organisation. He also serves on number of committees and
is now a member of the Hong Kong Housing Authority, The
member of Court of Hong Kong University. Mr. Ip has been
a member of the Legislative Council between 1995-1997, a
member of the Provisional Legislative Council between 1997-
1998, a member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong
SAR Government representing the district council functional
constituency between 2000-2004 and an elected member of
the Central and Western District Council between 1992-2003.
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Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung, Eugene, aged 63, is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fung is a
Certified Public Accountant, a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
both The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales and The Certified General Accountants’ Association
of Canada. He holds a Master of Arts Degree from Antioch
University of USA. Presently, Mr. Fung is a director of
Pan-China (HK) CPA Limited (formerly known as NCN
CPA Limited) as well as practicing as a sole proprietor
in the name of P. C. Fung & Company, Certified Public
Accountants. Previously, he served in senior and managerial
positions in large local and international accounting firms.
In addition, Mr. Fung is currently an Honorary Adviser
of The Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association, a Standing Committee member of Democratic
Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong and
a Standing Committee member of the Jiangxi Provincial
Overseas Liaison Association. Mr. Fung is also appointed a
member of the Financial Reporting Review Panel, under the
Financial Reporting Council and a member of the IRD Users
Committee. In addition to being a director of the Company,
Mr. Fung also holds directorship with other public companies
whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited: (i) Mr. Fung was an independent non-executive
director of C Y Foundation Group Limited (stock code: 1182)
during the period from 1 February 2010 to 6 April 2011; and
(ii), Mr. Fung has been an independent non-executive director
of China Liansu Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2128)
during the period from 27 February 2010 to present.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. POON Yan Min, aged 50, is a Director of Excel
Engineering Company Limited, a major subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Poon holds a Bachelor Degree in Civil
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and a Master
Degree in Engineering Management from City University
of Hong Kong. He is a corporate member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered Professional
Engineer (Civil). He has over 25 years’ experience in the
construction of road and drainage, site formation, waterworks
and building works including 10 years working in Mass
Transit Railway Corporation for tunnel and railway works.
Mr. Poon is responsible for the Construction Department
on implementation of works and the overall management of
contracts. He is the Authorized Signatory for general building
contractor of the Buildings Department. He is also the
Engineering Supervisor of the HKIE Scheme A Training for

Graduate Engineers.

Mr. YAM Kui Hung, aged 53, is a Director of Able
Engineering Company Limited, a major subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Yam graduated with a Higher Certificate in
Building Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic and a
Postgraduate Diploma in Construction Management from
the Construction Industry Training Authority. He is a
corporate member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,
a Registered Professional Engineer (Building) and has over 30
years’ experience in the construction field. He is responsible

for overall management and operations of building projects.
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Mr. HO Chi Ming Wilson, aged 50, is the Project Manager
of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Ho holds a
Bachelor Degree in Construction Management and Economic
from the Curtin University of Technology, a National
Diploma in Building Studies from the Business & Technician
Education Council and a Higher Certificate in Building
Studies and Proficiency Certificate in Industrial Safety from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic. Mr. Ho is a corporate member
of the Chartered Institute of Building and has over 29 years’
experience in the project management in the construction
field and a wide background of working experience in
residential, commercial and institutional developments. He
is responsible for providing full range of building project

management and contract administration works of contracts.

Mr. NG Kai Chow, aged 44, is the Project Manager of
Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Ng holds a Post-
graduated Diploma in Construction Law & Arbitration and
a Diploma in Construction (CEM) in the College of Estate
Management. He is an incorporate member of the Chartered
of Building, a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
and Authorized Signatory from Buildings Department. He
also has over 27 years’ experience in construction field and
working in different positions in the construction industry.
He is responsible for providing full range of building project

management and contract administration works of contracts.

Mr. NG Wing Yuk Philip, aged 54, is the Project Manager
of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Ng graduated
with Bachelor Degree in Administration from the Newport
University of United States of America and a Diploma in
Construction Management from the Hong Kong Construction
Industry Training Authority. He is a corporate member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Construction Engineers and
has over 32 years’ experience in the project management
in the construction field and a wide background of working
experience in residential, commercial and institutional
developments. He is responsible for providing full range of
building project management and contract administration

works of contracts.
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Mr. LAU Chi Fai Daniel, aged 44, is the Project Manager of
Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor
Degree in Construction Management from the South Bank
University of United Kingdom and a Higher Diploma in
Building Technology and Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic. He is a corporate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers and has over 19 years’
experience in construction field and working in different
positions in the construction industry. He is responsible for
providing full range of building project management and

contract administration works of contracts.

Mr. KAN Kwok Kit, aged 49, is the Technical Manager
of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Kan graduated
with Master Degree of Science in Engineering Business
Management and is an Accredited Mediator. He is a
Registered Professional Engineer in Building Services
Discipline and corporate member of the Chartered Institute
of Building. Mr. Kan is also a BEAM Pro and Registered
Energy Assessor. Besides, He is a Fellow Member and Branch
Honorary Secretary of the Chartered Institute of Plumbing
& Heating Engineering. He has over 24 years experience in
Construction Industry and Building Services Engineering. Mr.
Kan is the Head of the Technical Department and responsible
to lead the technical team to provide miscellaneous
support for tendering, project management and contract
administration work. He is also the Engineering Supervisor
of the HKIE Scheme A Training for Graduate Engineers in
Building Services Discipline.

37 2011/12

BIEWEE > 44% KR IBAWAFZHEAE
P o 4l 3 A South Bank University of United
Kingdom & 5848 BIL B2 - B A I 7 5 B 10 B2 g it 5
FIH R E MBS H R - R BT WEEMTEgY
B oo R SR SE R T LA R R R AR
R EE P AR A - WA FETRIEHEA
ZE P RATH A -

fi BB S 2 > 495% - KR TREA IR W] 2 Bl 4L
B o ARRE AT R A SRR L R R A BT A AR o
0 2y B S R TR 2 ) o A s B A
HEBRTER - REEA - Gk RE K R W
A~ BB OK B B R B R R
b o A0 8 o o 5 I R A TR AR Y
AR o fil S A T B TR Y A i B BB ¥R 5
R - BREIHE ZE BB AT B AR > IR 2%
A TR B L A R T ) W AR
F . TR i 2L o

Annual Report
4



i

@,
B

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A W & 7

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o 20 B o AR A PIL el JEE

Mr. CHONG Yin Wai, aged 41, is the Project Manager
of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Chong holds
a Bachelor Degree in Civil & Structural Engineering and
a Master Science Degree in Civil Engineering both from
the University of Hong Kong. He is a corporate member
of Institution of Civil Engineers, a corporate member of
Institution of Structural Engineers, a corporate member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional
Engineer (Civil & Structural) and a BEAM Professional.
He has over 19 years’ experience in the design, contract
administration, construction supervision of highway and civil
infrastructure projects as well as construction of the building
projects. He is responsible for the Civil and Structural
Department on the overall management of the site design
works and providing technical support to the projects. He is
also responsible for the Property Development Department
for the overall co-ordination and management of the property

development projects.

Mr. LEE Kwok Shing Gavin, aged 39, is the Project
Manager of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Lee
holds a Bachelor Degree in Building Management from the
Northumbria University of United Kingdom, a Higher Diploma
in Building Studies from the City University of Hong Kong
and a Diploma in Civil Engineering from Vocational Training
Council of Hong Kong. He has over 18 years’ experience
in construction field and working in different positions in
the construction industry. He is responsible for providing
full range of building project management and contract

administration works of contracts.

Mr. CHAN Tak Wai Ray, aged 49, is the Project Manager
of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Chan holds a
Bachelor Degree in Construction Management and Economic
from the Curtin University of Technology, a High Certificate
in Building Studies from the Hong Kong Technical College.
Mr. Chan has over 30 years’ experience in construction
field and working in different positions in the construction
industry. He is responsible for providing full range of building
project management and contract administration works of

contracts.
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Mr. TANG Quoc Tri Alex, aged 43, is the Contracts
Manager of Excel Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Tang
holds a Bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering from South
Bank University of United Kingdom, Master Degree in
Structural Engineering and Master Degree in Construction
Law & Dispute Resolution from the Hong Kong Polytechnics
University. He is a corporate member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, a corporate member of the Institution
of Civil Engineers and a Registered Professional Engineer
(Civil & Structural). He has over 18 years’ experience in
construction field and working in different positions in the
construction industry. He is responsible for providing full
range of civil engineering project management and contract
administration works of contracts. He is the Authorized
Signatory for general building contractor of the Buildings
Department. He is also the Engineering Supervisor of the
HKIE Scheme A Training for Graduate Engineers.

Mr. WONG Kin Yan Hector, aged 42, is the Environmental
and Quality Manager of Excel Engineering Company Limited.
Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor Degree in Applied Science
from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a Chartered
Environmentalist and a corporate member of the Society of
Environmental Engineers. He has over 15 years’ experience
in the environmental and quality management in the
construction field. He is responsible for the implementation
and maintenance of the Company’s environmental and quality
management systems. He is the Management Representative
of Excel’s ISO 9001 Quality Management System and
[ISO140001 Environmental Management System.

Ms. PANG Fung Ming, aged 42, is the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Pang is a fellow
member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the U.K. She has over 20 years’ accounting
and related experience. She holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong.
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Mr. WONG Kei Leung, aged 61, is the Accounting Manager A R B2 » 615% » A4 M 2 & 51 & B3 & AR
of the Group and the Chief Accountant of Able Engineering  T.F2H MR A 5] Z 4 € 51 o 4% 78 & 51 Jy 1 @
Company Limited. He has over 34 years’ accounting Z=TVUEKER - WA A KB HHENER
experience. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor Degree in Commercial — T. ¥ 45 B 2 4 247 -

Science and Business Administration from Chu Hai College.
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The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders
and responsible for promoting the Group’s success. To this
end, the Board recognises the importance in maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and believes that
good corporate governance is fundamental to enhancing the
confidence of the shareholders and other stakeholders as well

as minimising the Group’s exposure to risks.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2012, the Board is composed of seven
Directors, including three Executive Directors, one Non-
executive Director and three Independent Non-executive

Directors.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Group’s business. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the advice and
services of the senior management and the company secretary
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all

applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for
a fixed specific term. The Company confirmed that it
has received from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and they are
considered to be independent.

The Company’s Non-executive Director is appointed under a

continuous service contract without fixed term.
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The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board
include those relating to:

e the strategic plans and directions, and financial objectives
of the Group;

®  monitoring the performance of the management;

e implementing and monitoring an effective framework
of internal controls and risk management;

e ensuring that the Company has good corporate
governance and is in compliance with applicable laws and

regulations.

Responsibilities over day-to-day operations are delegated
to the management under the leadership of the Executive

Directors.

The Board meets regularly to review the overall strategy and
to monitor the operation as well as the financial performance
of the Group. For all of the Board meetings, proper and
sufficient notices, adequate information including agenda
and accompanying board papers are supplied and sent to all

Directors in reasonable time.

The Company has arranged for insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors. The insurance cover is
reviewed annually to ensure that the Directors and officers are

adequately protected against potential liabilities.
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Directors’ Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings for Year = —F——  — 4 FHFRFEF TR ZTH T #
2011/12 1Y Hi

Meetings attended/held

Directors and eligible for attendance
g R BAT N6 AT BE R 2 Bk
Remuneration Audit
Board Committee Committee

WP FMEHE w#EZAA

Executive Directors AT g

Mr. Ngai Chun Hung B i Stk 4/4

Mr. Yau Kwok Fai i 9 5 A 4/4 1/1
Mr. Li Chi Pong R4 4/4

Mzr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter BHRES 1/1

(resigned on 31 October 2011)

Non-executive Director B A
Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph AT B e A 3/4

Independent Non-Executive Directors M3 JE P47 7 5¢

Professor Ko Jan Ming [R5 4/4 1/1 2/2

The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP 3 o ek B 4/4 1/1 2/2
(BT~ L -FHA)

Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene 5 55 s A 2k 4/4 1/1 2/2

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS RiLER

Pursuant to the Company’s existing bye-laws, all directors AR#EAL T ZBIA A G AR > 75548 79 5 5O 4
(including those appointed for a specific term, chairman and Kk F B4 %FH (BFEAHRELHMESE - =
managing director) are subject to retirement by rotation and )i} % 3 48 &) 28 B AR S AR — R AR K
re-election at each annual general meeting at least once every — FiE o b » 4R R 2 B B AT 25 25 09 4% B 5%
three years. In addition, directors appointed during the year il FE2ebhm BRI EDSE > ARHLERT
as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the % ¥ ¥k B 3 K € b 8045 K fly i o o3 52 o«

Board are subject to retirement and election by shareholders at

the first general meeting following their appointment.

The Board has set up a Nomination Committee for BHHEGOHIIHRARET > MR RIEREH
formulating policy and making recommendations to the FEEFHHEBORAMERGEHES -
Board regarding the selection, appointment and re-

appointment of Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
of the Company are separately performed by Mr. Ngai Chun
Hung and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai respectively. Mr. Ngai Chun
Hung and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai are brothers-in-law.

This segregation ensures a clear division of the Chairman’s
responsibilities for the management of the Board and the
CEO’s responsibilities for the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership for the
Board, and ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and that Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner. The Chairman has an additional or casting vote in
the event of an equality of votes on any matter to be decided

by the Board.

The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for
providing leadership for the management, implementing and
reporting to the Board on the Group’s strategy, overseeing
the day-to-day operations of the Group and providing all such
information to the Board as is necessary to enable the Board to

monitor the performance of the management.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s Audit Committee was established on 8
September 2000 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

As at 31 March 2012, the Audit Committee is made up of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Professor
Ko Jan Ming, the Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung
Pui Cheung, Eugene. Professor Ko Jan Ming is the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene is
a certified public accountant and possesses the appropriate

accounting qualifications and experiences in financial matters.
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The Audit Committee holds regular meetings at lease twice a
year to review the Company’s annual and interim reports and
accounts. The Audit Committee meets with the Company’s
external auditors at least once a year to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts. During the year ended 31 March
2012, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the work
performed by the Audit Committee included:

— review of the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2011;

— review of the accounting policies and practices and the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group;

— review of the annual results of the Group for the year

ended 31 March 2012.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established
on 16 December 2005 with written terms of reference
and consists of a majority of Independent Non-executive
Directors. The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to
set policy on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing
remuneration packages for all directors. The Remuneration
Committee’s terms of reference are available on the

Company’s website.

As at 31 March 2012, the Remuneration Committee is made
up of three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Professor Ko Jan Ming, the Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, jP, and
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene, and one Executive Director,
namely Mr. Yau Kwok Fai. Professor Ko Jan Ming is the

chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to
review the remuneration of Executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board. During the year ended 31
March 2012, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
and the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
included the annual review of the remuneration of Executive
and Non-executive Directors and making recommendations to

the Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Nomination Committee was established on 7
September 2011 with written terms of reference and consists
of a majority of Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Nomination Committee is responsible to the Board
for leading the process for board appointments and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee’s

terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

As at 31 March 2012, the Nomination Committee is made
up of three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Professor Ko Jan Ming, the Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, Jp,
and Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene, and one Non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph. The Hon.
Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year to
review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) required of the Board
compared to its current position and make recommendations
to the Board with regard to any changes, to assess the
independence of independent non-executive directors and
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors. The first meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held after 31 March 2012 and
the work performed at that meeting included the annual
assessment of the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to the

Board for rotation and re-election of Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ securities transactions. Following
specific enquiry made by the Company, the Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2012.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Full details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the
Company are set out in the Reports of the Directors on pages

49 to 61.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
In respect of the year ended 31 March 2012, the remuneration
paid and payable to the Company’s external auditors, Ernst &

Young, is set out below:

Audit services
Non-audit services:

Taxation services

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective system of internal control to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, and for

reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control system, including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training

programmes and budget, on a continuous and regular basis.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of
transparency in communication with shareholders and
investors in general. The various channels via which the
Company communicates with its shareholders include interim
and annual reports, information on the Stock Exchange’s and

the Company’s website, and general meetings.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s
general meetings where the Chairman and the Executive
Directors of the Board are available to answer questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of

individual directors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company’s bye-laws provide that shareholders holding
not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid-up capital
carrying voting rights have at all times the right to request
the Board to call a special general meeting to discuss specified
business transactions. The Board is required to call such
meeting within two months after the deposit of a written
notice by such shareholders.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of
the shareholders at general meetings of the Company must
be taken by poll. The Chairman will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of general meetings of the
Company.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for that year.

The external auditors of the Company acknowledge their
reporting responsibilities in their auditors’ report on the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 as set
out in the Report of the Auditors on pages 62 to 63.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and the provision of corporate management services.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 17 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2012 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 64 to 172.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend

for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and balance sheets of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 5 of the annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial

statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment,
and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in notes 14 and 16 to the financial statements. Further

details of the Group’s properties are set out on pages 13 to 17.

BANK LOANS
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2012 are

set out in note 27 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There was no movement in the Company’s authorised share
capital during the year. Movements in the Company’s issued
share capital of the Company and share options and the
reasons therefor are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2012, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to
approximately HK$71,109,000. In addition, the Company’s
share premium account, in the amount of approximately
HK$174,189,000 at 31 March 2012, may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations for charitable
and other purposes of approximately HK$40,000 (2011:
HK$207,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, contract revenue earned from the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 90% (2011:
83%) of the total contract revenue for the year and contract
revenue earned from the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 71% (2011: 64%).

Subcontracting charges paid to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 21% (2011: 21%) of the
total subcontracting charges and material costs incurred for
the year. Subcontracting charges paid to the largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 6% (2011: 6%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung (Chairman) (“Mr. Ngai”)
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai
(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Chi Pong
Mr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter (resigned on 31 October 2011)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph

Independent non-executive directors:
Professor Ko Jan Ming

The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP

Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Li Chi Pong
and Professor Ko Jan Ming will retire by rotation, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The appointment of each of Professor Ko Jan Ming, Mr. Ip
Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene, as
extended based on the respective agreement between them
and the Company, was for a term of two years expiring on 31
August 2012 which has been extended for another two-year
term ending 31 August 2014.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of Professor Ko Jan
Ming, Mr. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung Pui Cheung
Eugene an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), and the Company considers all of the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 30 to 40
of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Ngai Chun Hung and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai have respectively
entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial period of three years commencing from 1 September
2000 and such contracts continue thereafter until terminated
by either party by giving a six-month written notice.

Mr. Li Chi Pong entered into a service contract with the
Group that commenced from 17 May 2004 and continue
without a fixed period until terminated by either party by
giving a six-month written notice.

Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph entered into a continuous service
contract with the Company in respect of his service as a Non-
executive Director commencing from 1 January 2007.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The directors’ emoluments are set out in note 8 to the

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during

the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Ngai is a director and substantial shareholder of Uni-
Dragon Holdings Limited, Winflower Investment Limited,
Win Source Investment Limited, Key Fame Limited and Key
Fund Limited, which are companies incorporated in Hong

Kong and engaging in property investment.

Mr. Ngai’s wife and his son, Mr. Ngai Wing Yin, who is
aged over 18, are directors of Lanon Development Limited
(“Lanon”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and engaging
in construction, maintenance and engineering contract
works. Mr. Ngai Wing Yin holds 78% beneficial interest in
Lanon. On the other hand, the Group has entered into a
tenancy agreement with Lanon, which constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company. Further details of these
continuing connected transactions are set out in the paragraph
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below.

The power to make material business decisions for the Group
is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board considers that
there may be a conflict of interest between the Group and
any Director, such Director (including Mr. Ngai who is the
Chairman of the Board and a substantial shareholder of the
Company) will be required to abstain from voting. Therefore,
the Board is capable of carrying on the Group’s business
independently of, and at arm’s length, from the business of Mr.
Ngai.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associates is interested in any business which are
considered to compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT

POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

At 31 March 2012, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of director Notes

WAL 4 Hi ik

Ngai Chun Hung (a)
B IR 1

Yau Kwok Fai (b)
e 1 M

Li Chi Pong
6

Shek Yu Ming Joseph
AT

Ko Jan Ming
5

Ip Kwok Him
2E 1 5t

Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene
TG i

WREWT :
AL 7] iR 2 4 E -
Number of
Capacity and ordinary
nature of interests shares held
0y B 45 Pk B Pt 3 R
%H
As founder and beneficiary of a trust 838,760,400
(- R Y RN & E YN
Personal
{EUN 5,406,000
844,166,400
Through controlled corporation 30,888,000
BB Z G WA
Personal 1,501,200
PN
Personal 8,448,000
il A
Personal 840,000
f\A
Personal 4,800
il A
Personal 364,800
il A

2011712 K™

N

7

20 B B B A W B B vl 2 A e AT

REF-ZHEZAEH o RS R R
ol (T 38 25 B 91 S5 Ak 91 1) 5835246k 2 M2 i 47 B 2
A VA2 6 RO T A % > SRR R BT AR EE
HEAT 8 5 A8 Sy AR AT ) (R e ] ) i 28 o
AT RAF A2 S A A F (TBRZ ) 2
RUSE > 2 T B P Ao W) sl LM T 3k T (R %
Te 39 5 A0 M) 58+ TR 2 A2 8) Z B A 2 B 2 R

Percentage of

issued share capital

of the Company

A a W C#T

JBe £ Vi 2} o

55.98%

0.36%

56.34%

2.06%

0.1%

0.56%

0.06%

0.0003%

0.02%
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Notes:

(a) These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Winhale Ltd., which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and is ultimately beneficially, wholly owned by the Xyston
Trust. The Xyston Trust is a discretionary family trust set up by Mr.
Ngai for the benefits of himself and his family.

(b) These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Business Success
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is legally and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yau Kwok Fai.

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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=
m-

BEAE B I Winhale Led 350€ R B R » & AT
T B JB 46k T TG Oy R R S 2 AT PR A 5 3
Xyston Trustie AR E 5 2 EHA © Xyston Trust)d
BB E R L2 R RER AR - A RBA A
AN B HFRIEH -

—
[~
—

(b)  BEZE By HiBusiness Success Limited ¥ & & B 35 ¥
F o> WA E Z AW TBAT AR T dh Ui R S AR 3k
ERESREAR o

Share options of the Company: 2wl JE IR
At At Exercise
Date of grant 31 March During the year 31 March Exercise period price
Director (d/m/y) 2011 RAER 2012 (d/mfy)  (HK$)
f BYHN  RZFB——4 Lapsed  Exercised — R_%F— 4 A7 B iR
(H/H/%E) ZA=Z+—H R if ZAZ+—H (H//E)  (#7)
Ngai Chun Hung
Bdw i 31/08/2007 844,800 - - 844,800 03/09/2007 -02/09/2012 0.40
Yau Kwok Fai
i R e 31/08/2007 8,448,000 - - 8,448,000 03/09/2007 -02/09/2012 0.40
Li Chi Pong
EeE 31/08/2007 8,448,000 - (1,500,000) 6,948,000 03/09/2007 -02/09/2012 0.40
Ko Jan Ming
FEm 31/08/2007 4,800 - - 4,800 03/09/2007 -02/09/2012 0.40
Mak Hon Kuen Peter
KR 02/06/08 7,500,000 (7,500,000) - - 02/12/08-01/12/13 0.790

In addition to the above, certain directors have non-
beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries
held for the benefit of the Company solely for the purpose of
complying with the previous minimum company membership
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Certain directors also have beneficial interests in non-voting
deferred shares in a subsidiary which practically carry no rights
to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting or to participate in any distribution on the
winding-up of the subsidiary.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of the
directors had registered an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ interests in
contract” and “Directors’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” above, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7
September 2011, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (“2011 Option
Scheme”) and the termination of the share option scheme
(“2002 Option Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 5
August 2002.

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.
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OUTSTANDING SHARE OPTIONS

Details of options outstanding at 31 March 2012 to subscribe
for shares of the Company granted pursuant to the 2002

Option Scheme are set out below:

Grantees

KB

Directors # 3
Ngai Chun Hung
Bk

Yau Kwok Fai
it R

Li Chi Pong
LG

Ko Jan Ming
FEW

Mak Hon Kuen
FUiE
Employees H T.

In aggregate

Ek

Further details of the Company’s outstanding share options are

Date of
grant
(d/mfy)
gTHH
(H/H/E)

31/08/07

31/08/07

31/08/07

31/08/07

02/06/08

07/12/06

WG A AT B 18 Dk ) i
RoB—-CEEA=E+ 0 BTN
TR HE i 452 T T G A 24 IR i B AR AT 6

A

BEREFERE F R T -
At At
31 March During the year 31 March
2011 RAER 2012
RZF——4 Granted Exercised Lapsed e S
ZAE+—H ®y itk %%  ZA=+-n
844,800 - - - 844,800
8,448,000 - - - 8,448,000
8,448,000 - (1,500,000) - 6,948,000
4,800 - - - 4,800
7,500,000 - - (7,500,000) -
360,000 - (120,000) - 240,000

given in note 30 to the financial statements.

2011/12

B FE30 ©
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Exercise
period
(dfmfy)
i
(H/H/E)

03/09/07-02/09/12

03/09/07-02/09/12

03/09/07 -02/09/12

03/09/07 -02/09/12

02/12/08 -01/12/13

07/06/07 - 06/06/12

Exercise

price

T
(#7c)

0.400

0.400

0.400

0.400

0.790

0.165

A7 B A A W) 1 AR AT S R 2 o — 2 RN U



i

@,
]

fi

# K A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
oA

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2012, according to the register of interests
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, and so
far as was known to the directors or chief executives of the
Company, the following persons, other than directors or chief
executives of the Company, had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares which would require to be
disclosed by the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meeting of the Company.

Long positions:

A :

Capacity and
Name of shareholder
B RES S

Notes

i

Winhale Limited (“Winhale”)
HiHA A

As a trustee

UFEACT VN

Braveway Limited

As a trustee

fe s fa it A

HSBC International Trustee Limited

Beneficial owner

A A

Dragon Gate Development Limited

Chiu Koon Ming Andy
i 565 86

(c)

corporation

25 8 S2 4 ) 5 1

2011/12

nature of interest

X By Be i 2 1 T

Beneficial owner

Through a controlled

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR

N

7

BB 3 B Al A i JBe A B A W B
W2t B R A

REF-ZHEZA=E4H > RIRGER KR
W) 5533640k Z B AE A 2 W] 76 4 47 1 HE 25 8 i
T L 8k > LA A AT o] 2 R0 e AT BN BB
A BRA A F R S R AT BN B DL - R
N B AT P A7y s A TR Bt 1 R i 8 98 AT i ZE AR B¢
il 75 B 31 15 R 90D BB X VAR 582 K 583 43 ¥ 1k AR 4
R 8 > oL o A T 5 90k WA B AT
o S e A (BiE A 72— D% DT 72 AR 2 5] B IR
K EBZTHHER])

Number of Percentage of the
ordinary shares Company’s issued
held share capital

P 54505 1 B i A 2 w] © AT
JBe Oy B H JBe A i Ay e
838,760,400 55.98%
838,760,400 55.98%
838,760,400 55.98%
166,742,000 11.13%
166,742,000 11.13%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)
Notes:

(a) The above interest in the name of Winhale was also disclosed as interest
of Mr. Ngai under the heading “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above. In addition, these shares are
ultimately beneficially owned by Xyston Trust.

(b)  Braveway Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited are deemed
to be interested in the shares of the Company held by Winhale Ltd. by
virtue of the fact that Winhale Ltd. is wholly owned by the trusts of
which Braveway Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited are
the trustee.

(c) 100% interest in Dragon Gate Development Limited are controlled by
Mr. Chiu Koon Ming Andy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, no person, other
than the directors of the Company, whose interests are set out
in the section headed “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

BB 3R B I Al A B A B A W U B
R B R AT (5)

Ht

(a) Winhalefs A 2 bl 5 757 b SCT 38 37 I
A B K I JBe A op 2 R 2 R R ] — B b R S B
e ZRERE o BEAD o BB B 1 Xyston Trustdt #
HaHER -

B

(b) Braveway Limited XHSBC International Trustee
Limited 8 #1 % ¥ i Winhale Led 38 Z A& A ¥
B Z W28 Winhale Ltd. 3 I 77 HiBraveway
Limited XHSBC International Trustee LimitedfE %
BREAZE L HR -

(¢) Dragon Gate Development LimitedZ fif f #E 25 J5
P B 5 84 5 A e il o

Br ESCPR @B A R ZF A=A
H oo oif g A (A2 5] 3 0 Br Ak CHBE 5 307 B3
[ S I B B A BRI A v 2 M i B i AT | — 1))
TEAR 2 5] ey S A B Jie 4y v B A AL 4 s 2 B ) B
WAl 5733 6k 2 B AE 78 A % Z Bl 4 SRR -
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”)
dated 28 May 2010 between a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as landlord, and Lanon, as tenant, the Group
leased out a property to Lanon and received total rental of
HK$1,704,000 for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011:
HK$1,420,000) from Lanon. Lanon is controlled by the son
and the wife of Mr. Ngai, the Chairman of the Board. Further
details of Lanon are set out in the section “Directors’ Interests
In A Competing Business” above. The Tenancy Agreement
has constituted a continuing connected transaction of the

Company under the Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out
above and have confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial
terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged Ernst & Young, the Company’s
auditors, to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information
and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. In accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing
Rules, Ernst & Young have provided the Board with the letter
in respect of their findings and confirming the Company’s
continuing connected transactions disclosed above: (1) have
received the approval of the Board; (2) have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions; and (3) have not exceeded the cap disclosed in
the Company’s previous announcement. A copy of the letter
has been provided to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS
The financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for

reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ngai Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong
15 June 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
=2 K

To the shareholders of

Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
64 to 172, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

Or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at 31 March 2012, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

15 June 2012
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#moA OB OB A R A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A MBI R
Year ended 31 March 2012 #FE _-FE——4F=H=—+—HIF-FE
2012 2011
e et S R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
REVENUE WA 5 2,957,441 2,600,457
Contract costs B R A (2,777,639) (2,390,991)
Property expenses LES 53 (1,268) (1,085)
Gross profit EH 178,534 208,381
Other income and gains A e A B W 25 5 98,211 181,179
Administrative expenses [Enid:- b3 (57,183) (55,437)
Other expenses HoAth B % (1,806) -
Finance costs - il 7 (7,396) (5,617)
Share of profits and losses of JRE A 3 [] 428 i 8 ¥ A
jointly-controlled entities Va4 i 18 44,760 10,993
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 53 B2 i i A 6 255,120 339,499
Income tax expense BiIE M 10 (36,026) (55,163)
PROFIT AND TOTAL AR B e B B
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2 i O\ B
FOR THE YEAR 219,094 284,336
Profit and total comprehensive income BEA F BEA A AL
attributable to owners of the parent Ve A S 2 ) WA 4B AR 11 219,094 284,336
EARNINGS PER SHARE QAR R R EEE PN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY B A 5 JB 48 A
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
(HK cents) (¥l
Basic B- YN 14.6 19.0
Diluted i 14.6 18.9

Details of dividends are disclosed in note 12 to the financial

statements.

2011/12 i
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

o Bk A R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B W5 5IR DL

31 March 2012 R =F——4#=H=1+—H

2012 2011
e St R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it T # T F#or
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FH U By ¢
Property, plant and equipment L E B Y 14 294,700 274,555
Properties held for development FRAEEBERZME 15 250,000 251,806
Investment properties ®EY ¥k 16 953,520 859,674
Investments in jointly-controlled entities %t [l 5 i) B #8 0 # & 18 111,211 11,251
Total non-current assets GG EAME 1,609,431 1,397,286
CURRENT ASSETS i B
Gross amount due from customers W E P Z a8
for contract work TR 19 259,192 26,895
Properties under development BRPYE 20 42,223 -
Properties held for sale HHEEREZWE 21 43,165 82,124
Accounts receivable JFE WA R ik 22 399,565 233,100
Prepayments, deposits and B RIE -~ HER
other receivables JC Al JRE e 3k 23 72,396 35,314
Due from jointly-controlled entities JAEE Wi e ] 4 o) B R O 18 10 960
Tax recoverable ] R el 5 3,551 417
Pledged deposits TG 77 K 24 1,075 1,075
Cash and cash equivalents B4 kB ESEY 24 359,326 283,886
Total current assets it ) B E AR 1,180,503 663,771
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £ 4
Accounts payable JRE A Bk 25 567,753 342,548
Gross amount due to customers AR P Z a4
for contract work TR AR 19 102,831 77,630
Tax payable FE A B IE 2,669 13,135
Other payables and accruals JHC Al IR A 5K T T 4R 2 26 21,594 15,029
Due to a jointly-controlled entity JRE A5k He [ 42 o) B R O 18 17,542 14,313
Interest-bearing bank loans A ERAT B 27 442,237 230,983
Total current liabilities LB £ A AL 1,154,626 693,638
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) i 8 % &~ (£ %) ¥ 4 25,877 (29,867)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT Y 0O R B £
LIABILITIES 1,635,308 1,367,419

2011712 K™
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Bmofm B OBk A R

N

7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A MERIL R
31 March 2012 WZE——F=H=14—H
2012 2011
R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik 58 B 1 it
Interest-bearing bank loans B R AT &K 27 442,400 410,343
Deferred tax liabilities 7% JE B E £ 45 28 74,879 58,761
Total non-current liabilities IR T A A 517,279 469,104
Net assets ¥ e EHE 1,118,029 898,315
EQUITY i 2%
Equity attributable to owners B A B H
of the parent M A B 2
Issued capital BT AR 29 37,459 37,419
Reserves Ei 31(a) 1,080,570 860,896
Total equity HHRE 2R 1,118,029 898,315

Ngai Chun Hung
Director
2 90
#HH

Yau Kwok Fai

66 2011/12 3
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B Ok A W

N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SRR TR W

Year ended 31 March 2012 #FE _-FE——4F=H=—+—HIF-FE

Share Share
Issued premium Contributed option Retained Total
capital account surplus reserve profits equity
C#AT JBe £ #A ik I e 34 %
JBe A it f R B il il At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THI T T T T T
At 1 April 2010 REF—-FENA—H 37,187 168,487 11,421 6,09 387,019 610,264
Profit and total comprehensive A4 B i ) & 2 T
income for the year Y - - - - 284,336 284,336
[ssue of shares (note 29) BAT A (B #£29) 231 3,483 - - - 3,715
Transfer upon exercise of TR i O A7 0 4
share options (note 29) (HiE29) - 1,409 - (1,409) - -
At 31 March 2011 and RZZ——HZ=ZA=Z+—H
1 April 2011 R_F——HNH—H 37,419 173,379* 11,421* 4,681% 071,415% 898,315
Profit and total comprehensive — AAE B i 1 K 2 Tl e A 424
income for the year - - - - 219,094 219,094
[ssue of shares (note 29) BAT A (W £29) 40 580 - - - 620
Transfer upon exercise TR W 1 W 176 v 4
of share options (note 29) (Hit29) - 230 - (230) - -
Transfer of share option reserve i IR HE 26 2% I 8 43¢
upon lapse of share options Ji P R £ A - - - (1,998) 1,998 -
At 31 March 2012 RZZ—-ZHZA=Z+—H 37,459 174,189% 11,421% 2,453% 892,507% 1,118,029
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * MR E SRR A MBERILE R Z G5

HK1,080,570,000 (2011: HK$860,896,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

2011/12
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

o Bk A R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBREREE

Year ended 31 March 2012 #FE _-FE——4F=H=—+—HIF-FE

2012 2011
e St 2 R4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mt T#C F T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BREEHZAEREE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax o ot i ¥z Al 255,120 339,499
Adjustments for: BB IE H A R
Finance costs B E 7 7,396 5,617
Share of profits and losses of JRE A 3 [ $2¢ ] 4 ¥ )
jointly-controlled entities KE#H 18 (44,760) (10,993)
Interest income B WA 5 (6,750) (16,212)
Depreciation reg 6 7,513 8,688
Gain on disposal of items B3~ HEAS T
of property, plant and equipment JEH2Z Wk 5 (9) (36)
Changes in fair value of investment BEYEATVH
properties 5 5 (90,581) (160,001)
Impairment of properties held Fr A A 88 e 2 W 26 A
for development 6 1,806 -
129,735 166,562
Decrease in amounts due from JRE e 3 ] 422 1
jointly-controlled entities BRI A 950 7,638
(Increase)/decrease in gross amount due EWEFZ A TR
from customers for contract work HaxE (W) A (232,297) 5,079
Increase in properties under development ¥ & H 4y 2£ 3% (914) -
Increase in properties held for sale AL EZWEN M (2,207) (904)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable FEUWLHE K (B im) Ik 4> (166,465) 45,056
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FEAT K - A R I A
deposits and other receivables WE Wk (34 m) A (37,082) 22,067
Increase in accounts payable JE A e Sk 38 225,205 41,278
Increase/(decrease) in gross amount due BAEFZ A& TR
to customers for contract work gz an S (R A) 25,201 (6,541)
Increase in other payables and accruals At JRE A 2k B FE B 2 T 384 6,565 2,044
Increase in amount due to JRE Ak A ] 4 o) B R O
a jointly-controlled entity K 3,229 14,313
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 2K H R %l 2 B4 (48,080) 296,592
Interest received B &IPS 6,750 16,212
Interest paid A F B (10,736) (8,472)
Hong Kong profits tax paid O 7 W R A B (33,508) (20,223)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating mEEwmEL (R Z
activities Bl 4 it B2 9 A (85,574) 284,109

2011/12
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

o Bk A R

N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEOBENAEER
Year ended 31 March 2012 #FE _-FE——4F=H=—+—HIF-FE
2012 2011
e S 3 TR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it F#x F#or
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEgEr/ (A Z
operating activities HEemeEgH (85,574) 284,109
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BERHZBEHE R
ACTIVITIES
Additions of items of property, B - B R
plant and equipment XMIEE (26,058) (19,783)
Additions to properties held WA R
for development ZWE% - (222,972)
Additions to investment properties B4 hn# 3E (1,707) (5,856)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE - BE# Rk #HIHA
plant and equipment Z i f s 48 36
Acquisition of jointly-controlled entities W B A ) 7 o) T 32(a) (55,200) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary that R NI S S
is not a business 1 B JE§ 2 ) 32(b) - (28,834)
Net cash flows used in investing activities G EHKHHZ B &N EFHE (82,917) (277,409)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEZEHZBEGH
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of share options % e WE 47 il ) B A K 0 29 620 3,715
New bank loans AT R 486,163 482,045
Repayment of bank loans 1 28R AT B (242,852) (417,596)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEBELZHEREFH 243,931 68,164
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BREeERB &MY
CASH EQUIVALENTS B4 Im ¥ % 75,440 74,864
Cash and cash equivalents at EZHE KRB EFHY
beginning of year 284,961 210,097
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBAEFHD
AT END OF YEAR 360,401 284,961
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BREeERREFHMEERZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS vigin
Cash and bank balances B4 K 8RAT #s B 24 339,253 230,442
Non-pledged time deposits with original S B IRE D B E A
maturity of less than three months =M A Z fEHL
when acquired & W 1E 24 20,073 53,444
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the %7 & BFBAR U0 26 N BTt 1)
consolidated statement of financial position e kB E&SHED 359,326 283,886
Time deposits with original maturity of less — CWHEHAE 2 $RAT%E 2 % &
than three months when acquired, pledged i AR R B H A
as security against bank overdraft facilities =il H Z & B fE 3k 24 1,075 1,075
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in FEBEWER NN
the consolidated statement of cash flows e kB E&SED 360,401 284,961

2011712 K™
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

" & B A W a4

VI

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B INT S

31 March 2012

RS

2012 2011
TR TR R4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it T F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS e By
Investments in subsidiaries T B e A w] R B 17 284,592 285,795
CURRENT ASSETS Ui B
Tax recoverable wJ W ] A T 295 -
Cash and cash equivalents & BRI &5 HD 24 671 365
Total current assets B R R 966 365
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 8 A
Other payables FE Atk B A 3% 26 348 208
Tax payable JRE A B I - 173
Total current liabilities i B B A8 R 348 381
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) i By % &~ (£ 4%) i i 618 (16)
Net assets & EFE 285,210 285,779
EQUITY i 2%
Issued capital OB AT A 29 37,459 37,419
Reserves it 4l 31(b) 247,751 248,360
Total equity AR 2 285,210 285,779

Director
B 0%
#HFH

Ngai Chun Hung

Yau Kwok Fai
Director
i 1 o
#F

2011712



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

A

VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were engaged in

the following principal activities:

e a wide range of construction, civil engineering,
maintenance and other contract works in public and
private sectors in Hong Kong

e property investment and development

The Company is a public company with its shares listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Winhale
Ltd. (“Winhale”), which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA?”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the

nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

®mofH OB kK A B A& #

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA 5 % 2 B
31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 S I HE (4H)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2012. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and

dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or

retained profits, as appropriate.

AR

AR B T B AR AR AR A W) T BL R e A R &
SRR EZAZ A B R AR R B
2 o PO 2 W) H B A R R LA A R — 3L
P B BRSBTS 2
B AN Z HBARE > WO R ARG
E BRI R F S AR AR S R A
HEERIRER L o AR H A AW Z R
P &8 ~ 22 5 ~ IR I A 22 B i s A g R
OB R a5 DL K e S i B R H IR 2 K o

WF Ji 2 ] v A 25 S0 O 42 B BT AT B 2R
BB AR T 2GR T -

T SRAR SR [ 5 25T S R 4 R e R > I
Ak wERS ¢ () BRI 2 W (RLAE TR
5 (i) i 42 o o B i 4 5 M (i) st
AHERE W REt T2 B s MR ¢ () BRI
R 2 P RUE 5 (i) TR Bk 8¢ B A9 2 SF- B4 5
VA% (i) 72 45 4 v i o o 028 2 B HH 2R o AC
A P . i Al 2 T 2 R R 4 S
B W oy AR 2R IR B e A o
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o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

®mofH OB kK A B A& #

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKEFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKERS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum Funding

Requirement
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments
Improvements to Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS
3, HKAS 1 and HKAS 27 included in Improvements
to HKFRSs 2010, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these

financial statements.

2.2 1t BOR B B 5% 2 52 )

A5 [ 2 SR A A 3 B R I o IR AR
ST ] T A BT A 7 0 T e R R o
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nRZHfA) RE B BB RRISEHF
514 % (B3T) Ve 2 op il )

Bl (BB ki RS TAEH AR
ZA®) RBER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012

S CAE=EH=—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
The principal effects of adopting these new and revised

HKFRS:s are as follows:

(a)

(b)

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the
definition of related parties. The new definitions
emphasise a symmetrical view of related party
relationships and clarify the circumstances in which
persons and key management personnel affect related
party relationships of an entity. The revised standard
also introduces an exemption from the general
related party disclosure requirements for transactions
with a government and entities that are controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised
to reflect the changes in the definitions of related
parties under the revised standard. The adoption of
the revised standard did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments
may result in changes in accounting policies, none
of these amendments has had a significant financial
impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group. Details of the key amendments most
applicable to the Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The
amendment clarifies that the amendments
to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent
consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business

combinations whose acquisition dates precede

the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2012

S CAE=EH=—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

In addition, the amendment limits the
scope of measurement choices for non-
controlling interests. Only the components
of non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by

another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance
to clarify the accounting treatment for non-
replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based

payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that an analysis
of each component of other comprehensive
income can be presented either in the statement
of changes in equity or in the notes to the
financial statements. The Group elects to
present the analysis of each component of other
comprehensive income in the statement of

changes in equity.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28
and HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
or earlier if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1

Amendments

HKEFRS 1

Amendments

HKEFRS 7

Amendments

HKEFRS 7

Amendments

HKFRS 9
HKEFRS 10
HKEFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKEFRS 13
HKAS 1

Amendments

HKAS 12
Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32

Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements

Projects

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time
Adopters !

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Government Loans *

Amendments to HKERS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities *

Financial Instruments ©

Consolidated Financial Statements *

Joint Arrangements *

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities *

Fair Value Measurement *

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income °

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes:
Deferred Tax — Recovery of Underlying
Assets

Employee Benefits *

Separate Financial Statements *

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures *

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities °

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of

a Surface Mine *
Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle *
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 2.3 U % /i 15 4% A 2 %0 75 o B 85 3

(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

Further information about those changes that are
expected to significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 7 Amendments in respect of the transfers of
financial assets introduce more extensive quantitative
and qualitative disclosure requirements regarding transfer
transactions of financial assets (e.g. securitisations),
including information for understanding the possible
effects of any risks that may remain with the entity
that transferred the assets. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments from 1 April 2012 and comparative
disclosures are not required for any period beginning
before that date.

HKFRS 7 Amendments in respect of the offsetting of
the financial assets and financial liabilities issue new
disclosure requirements in relation to the offsetting
models of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
amendments also improve the transparency in the
reporting of how companies mitigate credit risk, including
disclosure of related collateral pledged or received. The

Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS

39.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 2.3 U % /i 15 4% A 2 %0 75 o B 85 3

(continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most
of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from
HKAS 39, while changes were made to the measurement
of financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For
these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair
value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit
risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is
presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair
value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts which have been designated under
the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance
in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of
financial assets continues to apply. The Group expects to

adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that
applies to all entities including special purpose entities
or structured entities. It includes a new definition of
control which is used to determine which entities are
consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10
require management of the Group to exercise significant
judgement to determine which entities are controlled,
compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 and
HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the

accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also

includes the issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 2.3 U % /i 15 4% A 2 %0 75 o B 85 3

(continued)

HKEFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-
Monetary Contributions by Ventures. It describes the
accounting for joint arrangements with joint control.
It addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e.,
joint operations and joint ventures, and removes the
option to account for joint ventures using proportionate
consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured
entities that are previously included in HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates. It also introduces a number of new disclosure

requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27
and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, and the consequential
amendments to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 from 1 April
2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does
not change the circumstances in which the Group is
required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how
fair value should be applied where its use is already required
or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April 2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, upon derecognition or settlement) would be
presented separately from items which will never be
reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2013.
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(continued)

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination
of deferred tax for investment property measured at
fair value. The amendments introduce a rebuttable
presumption that deferred tax on investment property
measured at fair value should be determined on the
basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through
sale. Furthermore, the amendments incorporate the
requirement previously in HK(SIC)-21 Income Taxes
— Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that
deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured using
the revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be
measured on a sale basis. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2012. Upon the adoption, the
Group’s deferred tax liability with respect to investment
properties located in Hong Kong is expected to be

reduced.

HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the requirements for
offsetting financial instruments. The amendments address
inconsistencies in current practice when applying the
offsetting criteria and clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and some gross
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net
settlements. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2014.

Annual Improvements 2009 — 2011 Cycle sets out a
collection of amendments to HKFRSs (including HKFRS
1, HKAS 1, HKAS 16, HKAS 32 and HKAS 34) which
is issued in response to the International Accounting
Standards Board’s (IASB) annual improvements project
to make necessary, but non-urgent, amendments to [FRSs
that will not be included as part of another major project.

The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1

April 2013.
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B Ok A W

A

2.4 ERE st BooR e

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as

to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss of the statement of comprehensive income
to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost

less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the

other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the

joint venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4 LR GHBORBER ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control,

directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral
or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and is in a position to exercise

significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control of,
nor is in a position to exercise significant influence

over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that
is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the
participating parties having unilateral control over the

economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves
of jointly-controlled entities is included in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
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2.4 LR GHBORBER ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Jointly-controlled entities (continued)

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of jointly-
controlled entities is included as part of the Group’s

investments in jointly-controlled entities.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar

according policies that may exist.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are expensed

as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by

the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability
will be recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either
in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. In instances where the
contingent consideration does not fall within the scope
of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the
appropriate HKFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in

a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-

generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than properties under development, properties held for
sale, construction contract assets, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, investment properties and goodwill),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss of
the statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for

that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss of the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for

that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEGGHBORME ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than hotel
under construction, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss of the statement
of comprehensive income in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Leasehold land under Over the lease terms
finance leases
Buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining term of the
land lease and 40 years
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease term and 20%
20% to 24%

20% to 24%

Machinery and equipment

Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

24% to 30%

Motor vehicles
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each

financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Hotel under construction is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Hotel under construction is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the

reporting period.

A

A EORBEE ()
PO~ MR B 0 R BT A ()

T - WS B AR B AR
V8 AT ARS8 o BT A R A R £ B Y
B S PETABAY o TR A B AT E o

BEAA ~ W] A0 R 0 O dee A I 45
B4R B & 5 H b S B (A 9E) -

I3 ~ B B A B A e R AT ) T
R 53 A 45 IR o TR A 7 08 168 o o
AR AR KL ) 25 5 4 1L TG o AT AT o 45
e JE 1R A R A A T AR B AR R
IR S 4 O A LR T 2
A 2 T A 3 B 1R 2 R o

A S I B A 2 M 1 A EL A
PEYTEE o B 65 2 520 P Fl L 2 AR
B 8 ASA L W R B A sk A A ORAR @ A TR
JE% T H AT I B S -
v L B A R e U

B¥WE

BEHE P 3 T e A A RO S A B B
BEACHG A > i AR A 7 o it R S
YEATBORE » AR JEAE 8 0 SE B AR A v
B b B R R (R R HER
MU HESR - A B A SR I JEMR R A8 AL B A
o IR EREWEREE) - ZEWEN
WRHRRA (RG2S B M) GHE o RRIIR R
& > BB S T R W IR T R U A 2
FALFIE

5 2011/12 sl



i

‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#

fi

B Ok A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income in the year in which

they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income in the year of the

retirement or disposal.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at cost less
impairment losses. These properties are reclassified as
properties under development, hotel under construction
or investment properties, as appropriate, when

development commences.

Properties under development

Properties under development for re-sale are included
under current assets and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises acquisition costs,
construction costs, interest and other direct attributable
costs. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the estimated selling price less estimated total cost of the
development and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale of the properties.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale of the

properties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of
a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including
prepaid land lease payments under finance leases,
are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to profit or loss of the statement
of comprehensive income so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss of
the statement of comprehensive income on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
profit or loss of the statement of comprehensive income

on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as loans and receivables. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, transaction

costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank
balances, accounts and other receivables, deposits and

amounts due from jointly-controlled entities.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance income in profit or
loss of the statement of comprehensive income. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in profit or loss of
the statement of comprehensive income in finance costs

for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of

the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could

be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic

conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss
is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a

collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the

current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in profit or loss of the statement of
comprehensive income. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been

realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited
to other expenses in profit or loss of the statement of

comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial

recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value plus, in the case of loans and borrowings, directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and
other payables, amount due to a jointly-controlled entity

and interest-bearing bank loans.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss of the statement of comprehensive

income.

# Ok A W & 7

2.4 LR GHBORBER ()

B Rk

A5 0 i Al T

A o 0 3 0 % AR G P 1Y e L 5 4
R BRI 3R o A S T A2 400 4 e 28 I e
H4mh e o8 e

0 4ty e R T A RO 3 4 P R R
> 0 B A R o b e B 1 22
B8 -

A e 25 €255 1 A A A
K+ HE 36 L B - DA T AT
£k -

‘At

PIia RS AR > St B SRAT Bk R TR A B A
KRG RA TR > BRIET BN B E
Ko BRI T > BMIREAG & - 7EAH
A 1l e R O S A B RN R M AR AR T 5
P A W A AR O A A T WO 3R Y AR 25 P e

.
i ©

8 RIS T BB 8 5 AT A B 8 e e £
VA% BT S ) o 9 o 9 2 ) AR o
T B R 3 Y A A A T AR Y AR 2R
B o

. 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport



i

‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A W & 7

#

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

fi

2.4 LR GHBORBER ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss of the

statement of comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposit, and assets similar in nature

to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

e  when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

®  when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or

part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is

intended to compensate.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from construction, renovation and other contracts,
based on the percentage of completion basis, as
further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction, renovation and other contracts”

below;

(b) from work orders of contracts for alterations,
additions, repairs and maintenance, based on the
value of individual work orders certified by relevant

employers;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net

carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to

receive payment has been established.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims
and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed

construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the percentage of certified value of work performed to

date to the total contract sum of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they
are anticipated by management. Where contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as
an amount due from customers for contract work. Where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is

treated as an amount due to customers for contract work.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note

30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of
each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance

and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the
award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value
of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of

modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the

previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings

per share.

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken as at the end of the reporting period
is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the
respective employees in the following year. An accrual is
made at the end of the reporting period for the expected
future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by

the employees and carried forward.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

# Ok A W & 7

2.4 EEEGHBORBER ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss of the statement
of comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQO”) retirement benefits scheme for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO
scheme. This scheme operates in a way similar to the
MPF Scheme, except that when an employee leaves the
scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employee
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group are reduced by the relevant amount
of forfeited employer’s contributions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. All differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are taken to profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation
of a non-monetary item is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation differences on item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these

properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for these portions separately.
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does

not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and properties
held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management on
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention for holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development included in current assets if the properties
are intended for sale after its completion, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment properties
under construction included in investment properties
if the properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred
to completed properties held for sale and are stated
at cost, while the properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation are transferred to completed
investment properties. Investment properties, both under
construction and completed, are subject to revaluation at

the end of each reporting period.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Valuation of properties under development and properties held
for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of each unit in each phase of development is
determined using the weighted average method. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling
price less selling expenses and the estimated cost of
completion (if any), which are estimated based on the

best available information.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease
in net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease
and this may result in a provision for properties under
development and properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods
in which such estimate is changed will be adjusted
accordingly.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described

below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Construction, renovation and other contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, revenue and profit recognition on contract
work is dependent on the estimation of the total
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date. Based on the Group’s past experience
and the nature of the contract activities undertaken by
the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at
which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced such
that the costs to complete and the revenue can be reliably
estimated. As a result, until this point is reached, the
amount due from customers for contract work as disclosed
in note 19 to the financial statements will not include
profit which the Group may eventually realise from the
work performed to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total contract costs and/or revenue may be
higher or lower than those estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and

profit recognised in future years.

Significant assumptions are required to estimate the
total contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based on past

experience and knowledge of the project management.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present

value of those cash flows.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements,
investment properties including completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on
market value, existing use basis or on residual basis
by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions and
estimates, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual outcomes. In making
the judgement for valuation of investment properties
under market value, existing use basis, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties
is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period are used, while the use of the residual basis to
value investment properties under construction requires
considering the significant risks which are relevant to
the development process, including but not limited to

construction and letting risks.
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4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and

has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the contract works segment engages in contract
works as a main contractor or subcontractor,
primarily in respect of building construction,
renovation, repairs and maintenance and civil

engineering works; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
engages in investment in retail, commercial and
residential premises for their rental income potential

and the development of properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted
profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that interest income, finance costs, share of profits
and losses of jointly-controlled entities as well as head
office and corporate expenses are excluded from such

measurement.

Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third

parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. YRR (H)
Group
A 4R 1
Property investment
Contract works and development Eliminations Consolidated
AHIH WRBHRER it BR
2012 011 2012 011 2012 2011 2012 011

CR-CR | ZRR | %0k | ZFoF | ZF-0F | 2R [ DRCR | 2%
HKS'000 | HKSO00 | HKS'000 | HKS'O00 | HKS'000 | HKSON0 | HK$'000 | HKSOO0
Tz | TE#r | TEx | T#x | T#x| T#r | Té#L| Té#x

Segment revenue: AHBA :

Sales to external customers BETHEKEF 2,936,582 | 2,581,906 20,859 18,551 - - | 2957441 | 2600457

Inter-segment sales S 1,348 - 2,498 2466 (3,846) (1466) - -

Total k] 2,937,930 | 1,581,906 23,357 21017 (3,846) (2466) | 2,957,441 | 2,600,457
Segment results RS 158,943 190916 | 108,366 177,466 - - 267,309 368,382
Interest and unallocated HBRAREZ

income and gains LN e 7,630 178
Unallocated expenses FARZEE (57,183) (55,437)
Finance costs g sl (7,396) (5,617)
Share of profits and losses of WEfh Al 2

jointly-controlled entities A R E# 44,760 10,993 - - - - 44,760 10,993
Profit before tax WL A 255,120 339,499
Income tax expense Fifsi% (36,026) (35,163)
Profit for the year A 219,094 184,336

Other segment information: HRABHR :

Depreciation ik 2,864 3,556 3,097 3,641 - - 6,161 1,197
Depreciation on unallocated KAREELE

assets 1,352 1,491
Gainon changes in fair value R EWEATHEH

of investment properties lieh - - 90,581 160,001 - - 90,581 160,001
Loss on impairment of properties  ## {E % B 2 41

held for development WiER - - 1,806 - - - 1,806 -
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. rEEF ()

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers
based in Hong Kong.

(b) Non-current assets

i I 76

(a) HEFISPAH A
A4 WA 15 DA i 2 S B
S o

(b) i) &

2012 2011
e St TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

T oC T

Hong Kong Hi 1,605,771 1,393,962
Mainland China e [ K B 3,660 3,324
1,609,431 1,397,286

The non-current asset information above is based on

the location of assets.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 March 2012, revenue from one
(2011: two) customer of the contract works segment
accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total
revenue. Revenue from this one (2011: two) customer
was HK$2,096,958,000 (2011: HK$1,661,847,000 and
HK$370,664,000, respectively).

Government bureau and departments of the government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“HKSAR Government”) are considered a single customer.
Except for the aforesaid, no other single external
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s

revenue.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

N

7

4. YRR (H)

Information about products and services VE i B IR 5 6t
2012 2011
e St 2 I S
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # T T#x
Revenue from external customers: KEIKEFZWA :
Contract works for building construction MPEEEAH TR 1,198,402 867,528
Contract works for renovation, repairs [EE A Y LT
and maintenance BH TR 1,261,093 1,411,874
Contract works for civil engineering R TR KA H kit
and utilities works BH T 477,087 302,504
Property gross rental income MW AR 20,859 18,551
2,957,441 2,600,457
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the appropriate proportion of contract revenue from
construction, maintenance and other contracts, and
the gross rental income received and receivable from

investment properties during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as

oA > JEfib oA Be i 2k

7

We A\ (T B AS 48 0 i) 8 S ) T3 5 4F B
DR S LAt TR A A0 P AN L B 2 A
HIWON > T35 0 S W 0% HE R e W A

A

WA~ HoAd e AR et 2 A3 AT in R

follows:
Group
L]
2012 2011
e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i3 T#x T¥#x
Revenue WA
Contract revenue B RN 2,936,582 2,581,906
Property gross rental income PEM BB 20,859 18,551
2,957,441 2,600,457
Other income and gains JUfib BN B W 2
Interest income A E WA 6,750 16,212
Management fee income received and 1 — 2 [w] 42 1] BT 8
receivable from a jointly-controlled entity — WIZ F B EH UL A 36 250 2,220
Gain on changes in fair value of BEWEANTVEHES
investment properties W 25 16 90,581 160,001
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEwE - B
plant and equipment Bl & 9 36
Sundry income i T e A 621 2,710
98,211 181,179
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

6. BB it A

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after A4 ) Z BB WT A A BR 7 (REA) T
charging/(crediting): I
Group
L]
2012 2011
e St 2 I S o
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt T#x T#x
Depreciation g 14 7,513 8,688
Auditors’ remuneration A% S i T 4 2,100 1,820
Employee benefits expense 1 B & F) BA 3
(exclusive of directors’ (AEFEFHE
remuneration — note 8): —HfFES) :
Wages and salaries T&ER¥i4 117,445 91,299
Pension scheme contributions R N e
(defined contribution schemes) (AL gk st #l) 3,138 3,088
120,583 94,387
Minimum lease payments under AT RARZ R 8
operating leases: FHEMS -
Land and buildings + b R pE 2,877 7,040
Equipment B 12,815 12,639
15,692 19,679
Impairment of properties held Fefr 1 B8 R 2 SE TR A
for development* 1,806 -
Government subsidies** W R & Bl (265) (548)
Net rental income el A FH (19,591) (17,466)
* Included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated * Pk sE a2 mMBALZRNZ T HAMPI L] -
statement of comprehensive income.
#*  Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational A A T O 3 2 TR S R A S A I
Training Council and the Construction Industry Council, IR R % (Fik

institutions established by the HKSAR Government, for

providing on-the-job training for graduate engineers and trainees,

R I O S 2 M) Z E B o H S A

respectively. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies MZEE 2 RBITGGSERES -

relating to these subsidies.
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B"noAF OB OKR A R

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H
7. FINANCE COSTS

Group
A
2012 2011
e St R
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# F#T
Interest on bank loans AT R Z H B 10,736 8,472
Less: Interest capitalised W DEARILF B (3,340) (2,855)
7,396 5,617

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The

o g A
HRHR A W 1B £ 22 5 P A PR 24 s 2 i AR
(B B8 8 1) e 7 8 2 ] ok 1 45 1 6 146k ¢ %

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing AR EEEW S BT
Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
A% 45 [
2012 2011
e St o R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 T
Fees 4 594 573
Other emoluments: Al -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fid o HE R EYA 8,772 8,745
Discretionary performance-related bonuses B 3% Bl 4 Bl =2 B 1% 16 4L 19,398 13,228
Pension scheme contributions R N K
(defined contribution schemes) (A Bk st #) 91 97
28,261 22,070
28,855 22,643
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WML (&)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) Mo IePfrk g
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors AR BN S T R S IR AT HE S A 4
during the year were as follows: mE
2012 2011
e St 2 TR
Fees Fees
M4 14
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#x
Professor Ko Jan Ming B B 198 191
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP TP E (e gE - KAL) 198 191
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene 3 W e A 198 191
594 573
There were no other emoluments payable to the TAAEEFE N > Sl S HE A B A IR AT R
independent non-executive directors during the year ZHMMWE (ZF——4F &) o
(2011: Nil).
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

®mofH OB kK A B A& #

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director

8. I ()

(b) AT H P R e PuAT P

2012
TR TR
Salaries, Discretionary
allowances performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
A~ B B BUM W Bk 4
REDA % Z W11 4 w4 % 2 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#C T T
Executive directors: WiTHES
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung RS 3,640 12,000 12 15,652
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai i 1R 5 A 2,746 3,000 12 5,758
Mr. Li Chi Pong RIS 1,386 1,898 60 3,344
Mr. Mak Hon B HRE o A+
Kuen Peter* 350 - 7 357
8,122 16,898 91 25,111
Non-executive director: FERHTESF :
Mr. Shek Yu T S A
Ming Joseph 650 2,500 - 3,150
8,772 19,398 91 28,261
* Mr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter has resigned as an executive * FERERA CRE AL\ BATE

director of the Company with effect from 31 October 2011.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 —Z&£—_4E=H=4+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WML (H)
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (b) AT R IEPATH I ()
(continued)
2011
R4

Salaries, Discretionary

allowances performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
Fd o B 2 BHH B JiEY Ny
& EIRE Z e 4T sl 4 5 HA T 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#or F#or Fi#o F#or
Executive directors: HITHESR .
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung By e A 3,556 7,500 12 11,068
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai i IR M S A 2,616 2,500 12 5,128
Mr. Li Chi Pong IRk 1,323 728 61 2,112
Mr. Mak Hon HHRESE
Kuen Peter 600 - 12 612
8,095 10,728 97 18,920
Non-executive director: FEPUTEH :
Mr. Shek Yu A e A
Ming Joseph 650 2,500 - 3,150
8,745 13,228 97 22,070
There was no arrangement under which a director A ] M JHE i AS AR BE 9 AR H AT AT 2k
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during 0 2 g Y R UM R I A TR A A T
the year (2011: Nil). G (SR ——4F ) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

SR -CHFE=ZH=1—H
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

31 March 2012

The five highest paid employees during the year included

four (2011: four) directors, details of whose remuneration

are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of

the remaining one (2011: one) non-director, highest paid

employee for the year are as follows:

T 4% 3ot 15 567 T O

TR A A7 JE 1N 44 B 1 S PO O LA D 4 (=
Fo—iE WA W REZMEFHT
WP LIRS © 4RI — 4 (mF——
A4 BN T I (R
AT

Group

A 4R 1
2012 2011
=22 e
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#Ex T#x
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind s HI R EYA S 930 1,051
Discretionary performance-related bonuses 52 3 Bl A BH =2 |9 1% 16 4T 1,920 432
Pension scheme contributions RN e 12 48
2,862 1,531

The remuneration of the remaining one (2011: one) non-

director, highest paid employee for the year fell within
the band of HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 (2011:
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000).

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2011: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year.

10.

FEREB B (CF——F:— ) E
F0Y I R B 2 3 2,500,001 % 0 &
3,000,000 ¢ (% ——4F : 1,500,001 ¢
%12,000,0009 76) 1Y %4 o

Pi 3 8L

T VR 15T KR A AP I PR 1 Y 7 A 2 A
BB B e B K 16.5% (B — 4 :
16.5%) & B o

Group

L |
2012 2011
e Y =t =——
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#oc

Current — Hong Kong -

Charge for the year AAE 19,908 26,999
Underprovision in prior years VLA 4E JE R R 2 - 35
Deferred (note 28) AL (M it28) 16,118 28,129
Total tax charge for the year AR B A T 37 AR 36,026 55,163
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B O OB O®R A W A
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Y 5 Tk 3 B ke
31 March 2012 Z=F—ZH#=H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. P8 (4)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit

before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

308 P TP ) P 5 A B 3 i B B il i ) < AU
S HH B L BB R A 2 B S Y TR

FWE

Group
¥ |
2012 2011
coesap | SEep
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Profit before tax s ot 1l ¥ A 255,120 339,499
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate W EREL16.5%
of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) (ZF——4 1 16.5%)
A2 Bl 42,095 56,017
Adjustments in respect of current tax B D, i 35 S A 3 T 2
of previous periods T2 W 2 - 35
Profits and losses attributable to 5% B8 7 L ) 2 o) T A 1Y
jointly-controlled entities i A B s 1H (7,385) (1,814)
Income not subject to tax WHRBBA (30) (16)
Expenses not deductible for tax PNCIEY i Pd:: 53 693 720
Tax losses not recognised R T 7R 2 o e e 4R 464 47
Others HAty 189 174
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate AR BB RR G
B I 3 36,026 55,163

The share of tax attributable to jointly-controlled entities

amounting to HK$8,862,000 (2011: HK$2,232,000)

is included in “Share of profits and losses of jointly-
controlled entities” on the face of the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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31 March 2012
11.

12.

13.

S CAE=EH=—H

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2012 includes a
loss of HK$28,270,000 (2011: HK$23,132,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 31(b)).

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividends in respect of the year (2011: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number

of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares deemed to have been
issued for no consideration on the assumed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into

ordinary shares.
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11.

12.

13.

A

B2 ) BN A i A

WRE - _HF=ZH=Z1T—HILEE
A s BEE BER O AL &5 A A P B
28,270,000 ¢ (=& — —4F : 23,132,000%
J0) M 1 OO A A W W o sl iR (P
31(b))

JBe &
RN AE EIRELMTRE (2%
AR ) o

B2 i) 3 0 2 AT\ AN BB
#A

T e BE A 28 T AR AR AR AR BE B 2 ) T A A
R N REAG i R FH AT > S HRAE BN R AT Y
9 JBe Z TR 3 R

o 2 ) T R A A R ) A 2
FeA N MEA A st 55 > 33 B 4R ) # 9
e T <P 247 S 45 A e R A 2R R T R
FHR A B TR AT I BB B H > A BB
A LA Y A 0 5 P 9 B A A B
T 0 908 B T 2 22X B4 1 3 0 e v
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31 March 2012

PARENT (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share

are based on:

S -THE=EH=H
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

N

13. B2 v 35 W0 A A 45 A N\ ME AN 5 B
A (A1)

T e B A e 4 ) S AR DA bR A

2012 2011
k| SEew
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#x
Earnings #H
Profit attributable to ordinary equity FRCXYE - T NE
holders of the parent, used in the basic R ¢ B8R
and diluted earnings per share (RSN RS Tk E-EE X DN
calculation JE Al ¥z A 219,094 284,336
Number of shares
JB 4y ¥ H
2012 2011
S —FAp
Shares JBe By
Weighted average number of ordinary AR I 3 AR 2 A g
shares in issue during the year, used B R WA N
in the basic earnings per OB AT 3% 7 Bt
share calculation T SF- 2 8 1,496,913,239 |  1,495,575,403
Weighted average number of ordinary A 5% LA AR 2 i I
shares deemed to be issued for no R AR BT
consideration on assumed exercise 98 B 0 RE T 2 8
of dilutive share options 6,872,831 12,019,289
Weighted average number of ordinary T 5 B AR
shares, used in the diluted earnings IRE BT R 14 3% 9 it
per share calculation i SF ¥ 8% 1,503,786,070 1,507,594,692
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31 March 2012

SESESAZS A

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

N

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B Ok A W

7

14. Y38 ~ BR A% Bt i

Group
A 4R 1
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor  Hotel under
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  construction Total
fifh
fk BA HEEER
LHERT BB Rk ARk W R st
HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TH#L T#I TH#r TH#L T#I TH#L TH#L
2012 ot St
At31 March 2011 and RZZF——HZH=1-H
1 April 2011: R_Z——HNA—H:
Cost BA 129,950 4,426 4,612 11,990 10336 183,683 344,997
Accumulated depreciation and REATE R
impairment (11,746) (4,419) (3,985) (9,712) (5,659) (34,921) (70,442)
Net carrying amount F 118,204 7 627 2,278 4,677 148,762 274,555
Net carrying amount at RZZ——4NA—H
1 April 2011 IR FHE 118,204 l 027 2,278 4,677 148,762 274,555
Additions KE - 276 - 217 1,127 26,077 27,697
Depreciation provided during the year i [ #i# (3,272) (61) (240) (1,010) (2,930) - (7,513)
Disposals & - - - - (39) - (39)
Net carrying amount REB-ZHEZA=4—H
at 31 March 2012 Z IR 114,932 m 387 1,485 2,835 174839 294,700
At 31 March 2012: REF-"EZH=E+—0
Cost A 129,950 4,702 4,612 12,207 11,424 209,760 372,655
Accumulated depreciation REHEE A
and impairment (15,018) (4,480) (4,225) (10,722) (8,589) (34,921) (77,955)
Net carrying amount T 114,932 m 387 1,485 2835 14839 294,700
Annual Report
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31 March 2012

S-S A

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

7

14. Y3E ~ BRA B i (4)

(continued)
Group
A AR 1M
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor ~ Hotel under
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  construction Total
TR
5 e HEHEER
LREE  PEEE Rt AERM WE R w3t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
T# FHT T# TF#T FH#T T# T#
2011 SRk
At 1 April 2010: REZZ-FEN—A:
Cost A 129,950 4416 4332 11,210 8,053 167,640 325,611
Accumulated depreciation REHATE R
and impairment (8,473) (3,534) (3,588) (8,331) (4,464) (34,921) (63,311)
Net carrying amount G T 121477 892 T44 1,879 3,589 132,719 262,300
Net carrying amount at 1 April 2010 RZZF—F4EW—H
IR 121477 892 T44 2,879 3,589 132,719 262,300
Additions wE - - 280 780 3,840 16,043 20,943
Depreciation provided during the year 4§ 47 & (3,213) (885) (397) (1,381) (2,752) - (8,088)
Net carrying amount RZB——HZA=1—H
at 31 March 2011 IR 118,204 7 621 1,218 4,677 148,762 174,555
At 31 March 2011: [ S Y =y e
Cost 1% 129,950 4,426 4,612 11,990 10,336 183,683 344,997
Accumulated depreciation REATE R
and impairment (11,746) (4,419) (3,985) (9,712) (5,659) (34,921) (70,442)
Net carrying amount R T 118,204 1 627 2,118 4671 148,762 274,555
A al R
7 2011712 3



7

o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
i

o Bk A R

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012

S CAE=EH=—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15.

(continued)

At 31 March 2012, the Group’s land and buildings and
hotel under construction with net carrying amounts
of HK$114,932,000 (2011: HK$118,204,000) and
HK$174,839,000 (2011: HK$148,762,000), respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 27).

The Group’s leasehold land included in land and
buildings with a net carrying amount of HK$105,941,000
(2011: HK$108,955,000) is situated in Hong Kong and is

held under a medium term lease.

The Group’s leasehold land included in hotel under
construction is situated in Hong Kong and is held under a

long term lease.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT
At 31 March 2012, all of the Group’s properties held for
development were pledged to secure certain bank loans

and general banking facilities granted to the Group (note

27).

The Group’s leasehold land included in properties held
for development is situated in Hong Kong and is held

under a long term lease.
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14. Y3E ~ BRA B i (4)

15.

WNoF—-"H=ZA=+—H o REEKE
HE 5 B 55 114,932,0008 00 (ZF — —4F ¢
118,204,000% 75) K% 174,839,000% 76 (%
——4F 1 148,762,000% J0) # - b S dE = D
B A P s TR AR R T AR —
FBESRAT Rl o AR (RFEE27) -

AR L R A B R R EOF AR
105,941,000 76 (=& ——4F : 108,955,000
WoT) WAL L AR - B IR
BB -

AR I 7 S v O BT A AL B A A
W AU RBIMER R -

PR

M- EA=E—H > P AL
AR R 2 g TURTIR > DA A S f
T ST RO S — B SRAT LY (FFE27) -

ACHR B A A R 2 W S P B A AL I st
PR A > RURMMEEL(HA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2012 Z=F—ZH#=H=+—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. Bt EWE
Group
39|
2012 2011
it St 2 “E ok
Investment [nvestment
Completed ~ properties Completed ~ properties
investment under investment under
properties construction Total | properties construction Total
LM g %M g
f¥ME LR it | REDE REDE fit
HK$’000  HK$000  HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#x T#x T#x T#xT T#7 T#T
Carrying amount at beginning of year  F¥4 4 ) IR 1 604,674 255,000 859,674 496,226 196,000 692,226
Additions R - 3,265 3,265 - 7447 1,447
Gain on fair value changes, net NFHEB NN FH 51,846 38,735 90,581 108,448 51,553 160,001
Carrying amount at end of year VA 28 1 R T £ 656,520 297,000 953,520 604,674 255,000 859,674
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties is as AL B ESHTIE
follows:
2012 2011
e St 2 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # F#oC
Hong Kong: s
Long term leases RIMA 560 500
Medium term leases R4 949,300 855,850
949,860 856,350
Elsewhere* JHC Al 3 5+ 3,660 3,324
953,520 859,674
* At the end of the reporting period, whilst the application is * IR > R A B T G A R PR

in progress, the certificate of ownership with respect to one
of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying value of
HK$3,660,000 (2011: HK$3,324,000) at 31 March 2012 had not

been issued by the relevant government authorities.

Annual Report
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B W E (H)

The Group’s completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction were revalued
on 31 March 2012 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$656,520,000 (2011: HK$604,674,000) on market
value, existing use basis and at HK$297,000,000 (2011:
HK$255,000,000) on residual basis, respectively. The use
of the residual basis to value investment properties under
construction requires considering the significant risks
which are relevant to the development process, including

but not limited to construction and letting risks.

Certain of the Group’s investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further details
of which are included in note 34(a) to the financial
statements. The gross rental income received and
receivable by the Group and the related expenses in
respect of these investment properties are summarised as

follows:

REF—ZF=ZH=1+—H » KEBANTHE
RS/ EY T LS LIE YL Y A
B M A P SR PR AT A A W 43 ) e i A
B BT ) 4 B 1 77 A 15 4% 656,520,000 %5 76
(ZF——4F : 604,674,000%50) » DA KAk %
i {1 J ¥ 507 A5 18 %5 297,000,000 76 (%
——4F 1 255,000,000% 78) ° D fif {H 3% ¥ ¥
A TP AR S AN R JE T R B B R R A
B TR LB > G (AR RGPS ) Bkl Je Al
JE B

AGEEE TREW LM EMAMTH
= A B M2 TR O B AR B
34(a) o A A b S 4R W 3 BT WO S HE
W TR 2 R e A B B A B S BRI T

Group
AL H
2012 2011
e St R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T8
Gross rental income AW A B % 19,408 18,311
Direct expenses HER (1,017) (1,078)
Net rental income A WA FH 18,391 17,233

At 31 March 2012, the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$943,000,000
(2011: HK$849,850,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included in the “Summary of properties” section of the

annual report.

Mo HE=ZHA=Z+—H > KEHEE
Thi {6 48 %943,000,000% 6 (ZF — —4F ¢
849,850,000% 75 ) I % 4 3¢ TR LA » 1
o B T A AR I — i SR AT Rl A 0 DR (B R
27) °

A BRASE M BE YIS — B aE g > R4
e[ 4 SEMEZE R 43 o o
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. 7 B )& 2 vl i 8
Company
A sl
2012 2011
R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#x
Unlisted shares, at cost Ik LT > A 64,147 64,147
Due from subsidiaries B} J&§ 2 =] R sk 220,445 221,648
284,592 285,795

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. o
The carrying amounts of the amounts due from

subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.

WF i 2> ] IR 7 S HRA ~ S G e S A TRk

POF JE 2 i) 5k Y M T i 38 30 3 2 - MR L

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: TEMEA TGN T ¢
Nominal Percentage
Place of value of of equity
incorporation issued and attributable to Principal
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company activities
FiR U WA A% A 2 i M A
# W% B 558 4 Bl R JBe A i JBe HE i By He B
Direct  Indirect
HiE [HEF
Profit Chain Investments British Virgin US$70,000 100 - Investment
Limited Islands/ Ordinary holding
Hong Kong 70,0003 7t B e
e E 3 p iy 58 B
wi

131 2011/12

4R

Annual Report



-

7
&

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name

£ hi

Able Engineering
Company Limited
ZRIEARAA

Excel Engineering
Company Limited

4k TREA AT

Gadelly Construction
Company Limited
i F s S AR A

132

Place of
incorporation

and operations
ik W S
B 58 4%

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong
H

Hong Kong
g

Ordinary
4,200,000% 7
W 8 B

Annual Report
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

OB HF B A A
17. BB 2\ B (48)
Nominal Percentage
value of of equity
issued and attributable to Principal
paid-up capital the Company activities
L% i3 A 4 W) HEAY
S R B AAS i i JBe A By e T
Direct Indirect
H% A %
HK$4,789,000 - 100 Building
Ordinary construction,
HK$11,211,000 maintenance
Non-voting and civil
deferred engineering
(Note) works
4,789,000%% JC ¥ 4 Bt S
11,211,000% 7¢ Hefs R
I 3¢ 25 R S AT
(W aE)
HK$16,000,000 - 100 Building
Ordinary construction,
16,000,000% JC maintenance
W m and civil
engineering
works
M 5
Mt R
+ AT
HK$4,200,000 - 100 Building

construction and

engineering works

M
e TR
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. 7 B 2 vl g B %8 (41)
(continued)
Nominal Percentage
Place of value of of equity
incorporation issued and attributable to Principal
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company activities
ik 1 g o1 oI K AR 2 v HE Al
#h B 5845 Y R B AAS i i JBeHE T By e T
Direct  Indirect
HiE [

Able Contracting Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Building

ZREEFMAF T s Ordinary maintenance

10 8 % works

M M i TR

Able Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Building

RRAEFEHRAF s Ordinary construction

10,0009 e ¥ 7 M R

Able Maintenance Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Building

Company Limited i Ordinary construction and

ZRAEBEERAF 10,000% 7€ ¥ 48 i maintenance

works

M A R

Hets TFE

Gold Vantage Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Property

BB A MR AT & Ordinary holding

1009 7. ¥ 48 B E S EC]

Covalla Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property

BAEA AT i Ordinary development

10,0009 7E ¥ % Ji U s

Good Trader Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary - 100 Property

HERRAR U 10 8 development

LIE X9

Great Business Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary - 100 Property

¥EEARAH & 1 0¥ 98 i holding

WERA

Comfort Home Properties Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary - 100 Property

Limited & 19 0 3% 7 i development

ZHEEERARAT LEX 9

133 2 0 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. 7 B 2 vl g B %8 (41)
(continued)
Nominal Percentage
Place of value of of equity
incorporation issued and attributable to Principal
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company activities
ik 1 ko A% £ A 4 W) HEAY

#h B 58 4% S R B AAS i i JBe A By e T

Direct Indirect

H% A %
Win Glories Limited Hong Kong HK$9,600 Ordinary - 100 Property
A5 A R 2 7] B 9,600% 7t ¥ 4 Jit holding
MERA
Hobol Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary - 100 Property
TFA R H ERi 13 70 % 7 fik holding
L/ESEEE]
Win Extra Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary - 100 Property
s A RAH 7 us 19 0 3% 48 i holding
WERH
Frason Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary - 100 Property
A 1 A R A T 10,0009 e ¥ 78 holding
WA
Keeprich Limited British Virgin US$1 Ordinary - 100 Property
[slands/ 13¢50 7@ it development
Hong Kong MR

LW ETE
B
Note: The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends or to et - JHE Bk B R 0 AT R0 S RE MR B > o JERE
receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of HEBE 4 A B A B Z AR ] R B A ek
the company or to participate in any distribution on winding-up. FER R AE G RS > st A vE A e
FHEAT 53R o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERIINERER ARG EREE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected B A0 B A 4 B A S AR 2 A A H]
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion BAT - FEAE > VIHHEMHBAFTZE

of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other RIS B RHE L TR -

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

1 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED  18. ji% 3% I #% ) 2 % iy 8t ¥
ENTITIES
Group
A4 1

2012 2011
S e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#x F#or
Share of net assets JRE Ay 5+ 2 1y B (a) 84,590 11,251
Goodwill on acquisition WAL E A Y R (b) 26,621 -
111,211 11,251

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows: R EM 2GR T

Percentage of
Pl & A e
Business Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name structure incorporation interest power sharing activities
sk
#W EBAR oK HEAREAE O BEHE AR SR B =371
Excel-China Harbour Body Hong Kong 70 50 70 Engineering
Joint Venture unincorporate 7 works
T g v [ I S I 35 A 1 contractor
TR AL
Able E&XM Engineering Limited Hong Kong 50 50 50  Engineering
Limited company s works
ZEHE TIRARAFE A RRA T contractor
TR AL
Leighton-Able Joint Body Hong Kong 49 50 49 Building
Venture unincorporate s construction
P — 22 AR 3 o Y P contractor
M s
N}
Team Great Limited Limited British 40 50 40 Investment
(“Team Great”) company Virgin holding
AWRAHE Islands B
o Ji 4 T R
Fungs E&M Engineering Limited Hong Kong 40 50 40  Engineering
Company Limited company " works
BREETRAMRAFR ARAH contractor
LA
9 2011712 igsi
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ENTITIES (continued)
The above investments in jointly-controlled entities are

indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the jointly-controlled entities of
the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other jointly-controlled entities would, in the

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H
18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

18. 4 3% Il % ) T 8 09 B B (A7)

e o A e I ) T 8 8 [ 42 ph AR
AFEFEAH -

B3 P 5 B R AR O ) 3 (R A T R R
oy S A 5 I A A R R R R B
A 45 1B 5 LA A ] o R
Hy > HR B I A 3 7] ¢ ) T AT BEACRE A A
JCR s ORI -

length.
Notes: Mt -
(a) The following table illustrates the summarised financial (a) TF BN A AR 8] I ] b ) B RGO N A S
information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities: B
Group
AL
2012 2011
o St 3 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x For
Group N L]
Share of the jointly-controlled 43 A Sk [e] e ) B Y
entities’ assets and liabilities: HEAE
Current assets A E 186,960 77,370
Non-current assets IR EE 27,333 -
Current liabilities i B £ E (125,375) (66,119)
Non-current liabilities I B A (4,328) -
Net assets Va2 X 84,590 11,251
Share of the jointly-controlled 434 3k ) e ) B 8
entities’ results: EY
Revenue A 397,128 192,175
Other income H A e A 7 2,226
397,135 194,401
Total expenses HAPH X (343,513) (181,176)
Income tax expense BiIE % (8,862) (2,232)
Profit after tax Wi 5t 1% i ) 44,760 10,993

16 2011/12 St
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The Group’s goodwill on acquisition of jointly-controlled entities
as at 31 March 2012 arose from the acquisition of Team Great
and its subsidiary, which is an electrical and building services
engineering cash-generating unit of the Group. Further details of
acquisition are set out in note 32(a) to the financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the electrical and building services
engineering cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projects based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by Management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 14.89%
and cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2.49%. In the opinion of the directors, no
impairment loss against the goodwill is considered necessary as the
recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in this cash-generating
unit is higher than its carrying amount.

The amounts due from/to jointly-controlled entities included in
the Group’s current assets/liabilities are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

2011/12
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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A

Mfat : (A7)

(b)

(c)

Annual Report
AR E

MoB—THEZA=E1—H o ARSI
[Fi) 22 o) B A ) R R IO Team Great 2
L6 S > w3 4 ] A A A T Y R A
MM Mg TR B4 Hh o0 o A MU
TE P4 — 25 5 R U W B R I RE32(a) Y ©

PR A

T B AT R R B A ) e A T i ]
<o DA AR P st 5 2 8 » BRI Al SrAE
B At v X T4 S0 A B 2 TR R A B
St ACHE E o Bl AT 8P
BIRAE14.89% » TLAF DA G B S 3 AR 0 000
R A40%MEB A » HHR T > R AR
i % B 4 1 B 0 A 2 Y T el e
7 LR T > DRI s 2 2R B R
G -

L AE A [ A I ) B A R
AoF 36 7] 2 ) T R KR T AR ~ SR 18 T e
W
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012

20.

SESESAZS A
19. CONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION AND

OTHER CONTRACTS

19. #E - W R LB TARSSH

Group
A% 45 [
2012 2011
e St o R4
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 TF#oT
Gross amount due from customers FEW & P2 A7 TR
for contract work A 259,192 26,895
Gross amount due to customers JEAH % P Z &7 TR
for contract work 4 (102,831) (77,630)
156,361 (50,735)
Contract costs incurred plus recognised B #) RS T B R 2 e R 2 vk A
profits less recognised losses to date Yk B RE O R 2 s 1R 5,801,952 5,600,395
Less: Progress billings Ve o R R RO (5,645,591) (5,651,130)
156,361 (50,735)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. BRI PR
Group
ARG
2012 2011
TR TR R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#xL Fi#
Carrying amount at 1 April YA — H IR 4 - -
Additions R 1,057 -
Transfer from properties held HWHRAFHEZDE
for sale (note 21) (Htit21) 41,166 -
Carrying amount at 31 March REAZ+—H B RE & 42,223 -

138
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. R E ()

(continued)

All the Group’s properties under development are located
in Hong Kong and are held under long term leases. RUIMEEXFFE -
At 31 March 2012, the Group’s properties under
development with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$42,223,000 (2011: Nil) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27). B HR (B 5E27) ©
The Group’s properties under development as at

31 March 2012 are expected to be recovered after more

Pt A 5 0 1 3 o v g S 3 AR A o > ELDA

Mo —_HEZH=+—H  AEBEKRE
SHA 342,223,000 00 (ZF——4F + B
JG) W E R vy 36 P AR A 4R I 9 — SR AT

RER-TEZAZH o REE R
H W SE TR R R R AR R+ A &

than twelve months from the end of the reporting period. Bl o
21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 21. #4523k
Group
A 45
2012 2011
e St 2 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#T
Carrying amount at 1 April A H — B AR 4 82,124 81,116
Additions wHE 2,207 1,008
Transfer to properties under A B v 3K (M RE20)
development (note 20) (41,166) -
Carrying amount at 31 March REA=Z+—H R4 43,165 82,124

At 31 March 2012, the Group’s properties held for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$43,165,000
(2011: HK$41,166,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

(FfF&E27) o

Annual Report
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21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (continued)

N

7

21. ¥ A B 2 W 2% (B0

An analysis of the Group’s properties held for sale is as AREEFFAELEZHESTWT
follows:
Group
A4
2012 2011
e S 3 TR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T #C Fi#or
Hong Kong: F
Long term lease RUIMHE - 41,166
Medium term lease A 43,165 40,958
43,165 82,124

The Group’s properties held for sale as at 31 March 2012

are expected to be recovered after more than twelve

months from the end of the reporting period.

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of receivables for contract
work and rentals under operating leases. The payment
terms of contract work receivables are stipulated in
the relevant contracts. Rentals are normally payable in

advance.

At 31 March 2012, retentions receivable included in
accounts receivable amounted to HK$117,927,000 (2011:
HK$108,851,000), which are repayable within terms

ranging from two to three years.

At 31 March 2012, the Group assigned its financial
benefits under certain contract works to secure general

banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27)

as at 31 March 2012, the aggregate amount of accounts
receivable related to such contract works pledged to

secure the relevant banking facilities amounted to

HK$34,872,000 (2011: HK$44,847,000).

140
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22. HEWCHE 3

BEEZERE

and

44,847,000 7C) °

Annual Report
4

PR -THEEA=ZH o REEFAAE
H B 2 S T A R AR s -

FEWIRRBFEAEH TREAEEMEREZ
FE WK IE o & %) TR HE WK IH 2 S A sk
A RIS G b o e — BRI 5
ﬁ o

R-F—THFE=ZHA=1+—H  BREHIE
35 ME AR B R IE 117,927,000 78 (=& ——
4 1 108,851,000¥ 70) » M AR A —

WNoF—-"HEZA=Z+—H > REEGH
T A A TR A BB R A% 0 > DL
BT AL E W — B RATEE (B RE27) 5
TR -CHEZAZFT—H o FBRESESR
TR T DUVR A DL IR B SR AT o
WS B ik AR H 34,872,000 76 (B ——4F ¢
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The aged analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end

of the reporting period is as follows:

22. HEWCIR 3 (48)
T 5 00 2K 2 B ek Y W S A T I F

Group

L]
2012 2011
ZE A e
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # T¥#x
Current — 3 months B3 — 34 H 350,877 174,504
4 — 6 months 4—ofil A 13,551 3,657
Over 6 months i ofE A 35,137 54,939
399,565 233,100

The aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is

as follows:

SNF: 181 331 s 8 R R 9 o R K LM
ZiRi

Group

A 4
2012 2011
e St 2 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#T

Past due but not impaired: 761 31 4EL Sl S0 Rk AE -

One to three months past due 1 E3MEA 6,649 15,057
Four to six months past due M4 o H 83 34
Opver six months past due 341 19 68 ol H 8,057 1,689
14,789 16,780
Neither past due nor impaired R f1 2 S 77 4 vl f 384,776 216,320
399,565 233,100

2011/12
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. HEWCBE X (7)

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired 78 35 05 S J0 Y A ) IR WAOHR 3R 5 A B o L
relate to a number of independent customers that have o A5 B AR B AR B RO Bk R AT o MR
a good track record with the Group. Based on past DALRER » R AR EFR R o LS MA
experience, the directors of the Company are of the FHRURE A > B BEAE R KR
opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary 5 > HAT AR 2 T 2 SO ImT A R 45 6 o AR AR
in respect of these balances as there has not been a VB ST G % 2 45 % A AT A0 IR R SR A
significant change in credit quality and the balances are M -

still considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancement over these

balances.
Accounts receivable that are neither past due nor U 1% 28 300 7 J0 D L ) B WALk T B 2 U 22 1
impaired relate to a number of independent customers for TSR AR B > kA% A R T Bk o

whom there was no recent history of default.

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. BTk ~ 452 4 B U il I ek
RECEIVABLES
Group
A H
2012 2011
i St SR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#T
Prepayments TE AT 3K IH 47,749 17,702
Deposits and other receivables 52 4 T 3 A JE WLk 24,647 17,612
72,396 35,314
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. b B A E I O MR o R AN R BT
The financial assets included in the above balances relate 355 0 4 R A B RO ) R A Sk )
to receivables for which there was no recent history of WK I o
default.

2 2 O 1 1 I 1 2 %“fg%%lé}eport



7

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012

S CAE=EH=—H

A

24. PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH 24. Bk KB4 LB &% MY

EQUIVALENTS
Group Company
A 4R 1 b /|
2012 2011 2012 2011
TR TAR R R TAR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x F#x F#x F#x
Pledged time deposits against 45 $R 17 % 3 %A AR
bank overdraft facilities HEA A W AE R 1,075 1,075 - -
Cash and cash equivalents: Bla KBS HY
Cash and bank balances B4 B SRAT S 6 339,253 230,442 671 365
Non-pledged time deposits A AT K 20,073 53,444 - -
359,326 283,886 671 365

The time deposits pledged to banks were to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with banks with high credit ratings

and no recent history of default.

143

SE S KA o T 8RAT > AR R AR I 42

— M SRAT L Z WE AR (FaE2T) -

2011/12 Hes™"

SRAT B IR AR IR A HARAT A7 KR R HE
T TR S BR IR 8. o S 300 5 9 42 5K ey 80 A
FE > REZMARE > SPAGEE # B
RF 4 T B > WRAC SR [ 32 4% T I A T AR R A
RPN S, o SRAT A B S TG SRS AR I
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31 March 2012 Z=F—ZH#=H=+—H
25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end

25. MEAT R K
T 5 00 R 2 A B R B 40 AT 4 F

of the reporting period is as follows:

Group

A4
2012 2011
= St TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F T
Current — 3 months B3 — 34 H 485,954 243,229
4 — 6 months 4—o6fil H 21,108 12,827
Over 6 months oM A 60,691 86,492
567,753 342,548

Ro-F—-THFE=ZHA=1+—H  BRIEZPE
15 W AR 88 3R 897,663,000 76 (& ——
A1 73,241,000¥00) » —RMERE A 2=
q:‘: o

At 31 March 2012, retentions payable included in
accounts payable amounted to HK$97,663,000 (2011:
HK$73,241,000), which are normally settled within terms

ranging from two to three years.

HE 4 HE A 2y S R, AR AT B 6
T -

Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing. The payment

terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts.

Annual Report
AR E
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31 March 2012

217.

ZE-TE=ZH=4—H
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

A

26. J0Afb ME A5 % B TUBE B M

Group Company
A 4R p N/

2012 2011 2012 2011
TR T DR DR SR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T F o T# F o
Other payables Fofth A 35K 18,573 12,278 348 208
Accruals HREN 3,021 2,751 - -
21,594 15,029 348 208

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected

to be settled within one year.

HoAts FEAS KA G B > ST AL — 4R NS o

INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 27. wh B 8T 8K
Group
A% 45 [
2012 2011
A
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# T
Current b U]
Bank loans — secured and at SRAT Sk — A A K
floating interest rates R B R R R S 289,475 147,032
Long term bank loans repayable A SR R Y R U SRAT Rk
on demand — secured and at — A HRH R di v B A R
floating interest rates (note) aHEA B (M EE) 152,762 83,951
442,237 230,983
Non-current E ]
Bank loans — secured and at SRAT B K — A BRI ik
floating interest rates F AR5 EA S 442,400 410,343
884,637 641,326
s 2011712 3
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B Ok A W

27. vt B 8T £k (81)

(continued)
Group
A 4R 1M
2012 2011
g St SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000
F##x F#x
Analysed into: v
Bank loans repayable: SRAT R R T -
Within one year or on demand (note) — 4 P B 5 B SR T A IR (M ) 442,237 230,983
In the second year BN 208,233 121,037
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEZ2HFEN (BB ERMAE) 65,962 135,800
Beyond five years EY R 168,205 153,506
884,637 641,326

Note: As further explained in note 37 to the financial statements, the
Group’s term loans with an aggregate amount of HK$152,762,000
(2011: HK$83,951,000) containing an on-demand clause have
been classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above
analysis, the loans are included within current interest-bearing
bank loans and analysed into bank loans repayable within one year
or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts repayable in
respect of the loans are:

B

SO B R W RES TN BT — B R

A 4B 3 A% 5 152,762,000 7T (R ——
4R 1 83,951,000% 70 ) 1 & Bk (A %
FEORBER AR GEH) BRI BEARD &
fi§ o B LA M S o B BIEERBE
BSRATEFRA » M B —4F N SR B R
PR I SRAT K o

AR 0k 1 2Rk o K 2

Group

A4
2012 2011
e et 3 I
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T
Within one year or on demand —AE N B T R T A R 289,474 147,032
In the second year BERN 297,921 135,264
In the third to fifth years, inclusive S8 =EHAEN (B H R M 4) 104,233 177,610
Beyond five years LAYk 193,009 181,420
884,637 641,326

Annual Report
AR E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA 5 % 2 B
31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 27. B 847 8k ()

(continued)

The interest rates of the Group’s bank loans are primarily
repriced every month based on prime rate or HIBOR or
LIBOR changes.

The Group’s secured bank loans are secured by:

(i) legal charges over the Group’s investment properties,
which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of HK$943,000,000 (2011:
HK$849,850,000);

legal charges over the Group’s land and buildings,
which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of HK$114,932,000 (2011:
HK$118,204,000);

(iii) legal charges over the Group’s hotel under
construction, which had an aggregate carrying

amount at the end of the reporting period of

HK$174,839,000 (2011: HK$148,762,000);

(iv) legal charges over the Group’s properties held for
development, which had an aggregate carrying
amount at the end of the reporting period of

HK$250,000,000 (2011: HK$251,806,000);

legal charges over the Group’s properties under
development, which had an aggregate carrying

amount at the end of the reporting period of

HK$42,223,000 (2011: Nil);

(vi) legal charges over the Group’s properties held
for sale, which had a carrying value at the end
of the reporting period of HK$43,165,000 (2011:
HK$41,166,000);

(vii)the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to HK$1,075,000 (2011: HK$1,075,000)
at the end of the reporting period; and
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A 55 [ SRAT SR A R 23 7 AL o A R R
9 ST 7] SE R S A B SR AT W] SE 97 B )
[REZEPER: k- i

ACER A HE AP BRAT Bk DL R BIE H AR

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

T 35 11 >R 4 R T 2% 943,000,0009 78
(T ——4F : 849,850,000# 7T ) 2 A 4E
EES-g//E i F ik i FH

245 [ b R d g B T ED N
HWIR > H AR % 114,932,000% 0
T ——4 1 118,204,000 70) 3

AR 45 1 A 4 MR G %% 174,839,000 76
R AL B A P R e W (2R
——4F : 148,762,000# JC)

AREBEEEHEBREZYEN L EMH
oo R R Y R T 4 B AT
#250,000,000% 56 (ZF — — 4 ¢
251,806,000% 78) 3

AR B R A e i R R
T B oK 0 B T 4 R A R 442,223,000
JC(ZF— 4  E) 5

A e 5 B oK IR T A £543,165,000% J6
(B ——4F : 41,166,000 70 ) My A 45
EHFEAEREBEZHENEENT

(vii) 7 $i & 31 K % #1,075,000% 7 (&
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(continued)

(viii)the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits
under certain contract works with an aggregate
accounts receivable amounted to HK$34,872,000
(2011: HK$44,847,000) as at 31 March 2012.

In addition, the Company has provided corporate
guarantees against certain of the Group’s banking
facilities to the extent of HK$1,892,304,000 (2011:
HK$1,590,167,000) as at 31 March 2012.

The Group’s bank loans are denominated in the following

currencies:
Euro ik 7T
Hong Kong dollar #IT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H
27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

27. vt B 8T £k (81)

(viil) B A AL E A THETRAHZ
MBEME > R - E=ZA=Z+—
H > 7 B e WO 3k & w1 4434,872,000%
TC(ZF— 4 : 44,847,000 L) °

A s AR —TEZH =1 —H s KAH
T A [ 35 T SR AT R A $R 46 401,892,304,000
Wt (F——4F 1 1,590,167,0003 78) = 2

A ER -

A AR [ Y SRAT LK DA R 51 B A BLA

Group
A 45

2012
e St 2
HK$°000

T

884,637

2011
St
HK$°000
T

3,274
638,052

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s bank loans approximate to their fair values.

ARy o A B ERAT Rk i R i S A

AR -
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

28. DEFERRED TAX 28. ¥ #E Bt H
The components of net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities T AR BE Y 7 5 A B 5 R U0 3% P T R A 4R 4t
with the net balance recognised in the consolidated BLIEH (& ) /A 6% 5 B0 0 B3 45 8 DA &
statement of financial position and the movements during AREHWT -

the year are as follows:

Group
AL M
Depreciation Losses available
allowance in for offsetting
excess of related Revaluation  against future
depreciation  of properties  taxable profits Total
R LE PN
M3 M R B 2t A
it BB L¥i/ES ZE#H ik
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THE  T#E  TEE  TEE
At 1 April 2010 RZZ-FHENA—H 3,839 31,438 (4,645) 30,632
Deferred tax charged R E R E
to profit or loss of the statement eI N kA
of comprehensive income BRI (Hf7t10)
during the year (note 10) 703 26,460 966 28,129
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 REF-—FEZAZ+H
AZF—— WA 4,542 57,898 (3,679) 58,761
Deferred tax charged A4 B
to profit or loss of the statement EXLV N kb
of comprehensive income BB (HfE10)
during the year (note 10) 571 14,975 572 16,118
At 31 March 2012 RE-F-ZHZA=1—H 5,113 12,873 (3,107) 74,879
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of A S5 [ 7 A kA A 2 B I 1R 489,156,000
HK$89,156,000 (2011: HK$88,390,000). Subject to WOt (ZF——4F : 88,390,000¥76) ° f#F
the final assessment of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue WHLE R R R RLAR - SRR i 15 P At f
Department, these tax losses are available indefinitely for PRI EA A BRZ AW Z RKE
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies PR A o A A B OOk % % 0 118,830,000
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have Wt (ZF——4F 1 22,294,000% J0 ) e 32 3%
been recognised in respect of HK$18,830,000 (2011: ERIHEE - HRRBAEAKATRRARKAE L
HK$22,294,000) of such losses. Deferred tax assets have &) JE SR R S DL K B AR A > MR B A AR AR
not been recognised in respect of the remaining amount 70,326,000 78 (=& — —4F : 66,096,000%
of HK$70,326,000 (2011: HK$66,096,000) as it is not T ) T AR A B I 2 o

considered probable that there would be sufficient future

taxable profits to utilise such amount.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012
28.

29.

S -THE=EH=H

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 March 2012 and 2011, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability for taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the
Group’s subsidiaries or joint ventures as the Group has
no liability to additional tax should such amounts be

remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the

payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

28.

A

WE %t B (1)

PR -CERCE-EEZA =
A5 I A W) T A AR T SR T R
A T A SR8 T A A R R R ik R 0 A I £ A
T A9 <5 ) A o 0l A 4% R A A
BiIHE i -

A i i H B SRS A e A B A T A BLAR
% o

SHARE CAPITAL 29. Bk
Shares JBt 63
2012 2011
TR TAR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#x
Authorised: BB
4,000,000,000 (2011: 4,000,000,000) 4,000,000,000/ (= ——4¢ :
ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 4,000,000,000 8% ) & B T {4
0.025% Jt Z ¥ 48 i 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: OB AT I OB AR
1,498,371,600 (2011: 1,496,751,600) 1,498,371,600/ (=& ——4¢ :
ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 1,496,751,600% ) 4 ik i {E
0.025% Jt Z ¥ 48 it 37,459 37,419

During the year, the subscription rights attaching to
1,500,000 and 120,000 share options were exercised
at the subscription prices of HK$0.400 and HK$0.165
per share, respectively (2011: 9,288,000 at subscription
price of HK$0.400), resulting in the issue of 1,620,000
(2011: 9,288,000) shares of HK$0.025 each for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$620,000
(2011: HK$3,715,000). During the year, an amount of
HK$230,000 (2011:HK$1,409,000) was transferred from
the share option reserve to the share premium account

upon the exercise of the share options.
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AR JE > B 1,500,000 K 120,00045 fi# B
RE b 0 % RE 43 7 % B 20,400 o8 K
0.165%s JG 1y 38 A A7 (= — —4¢ : [t
J#9,288,0004 i Bt #E b iy 52 I HE 4% U
0.400% 7 I iR WEAR AT 0 ) » PRt 3847 19 i
{H #50.025%5 70 B B 473 1,620,000/ (=T ——
4F 1 9,288,000/8) » A 1Bk 2 48 B4R
18 %5620,000% 8 (= ——4F : 3,715,000%
JC) o AR FE VY o 7 I B AEAE AT A IE > 4
#i230,000%7C (ZF——4F : 1,409,000% 7T )
T JE TR ok 85 W A I A ¥ (IR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Y 5 Tk 3 B ke

31 March 2012 Z=F—ZH#=H=+—H
29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)

29. A (74)
e (%)

A summary of the transactions during the year with

ACAE JE B2 38 By A R BT I AR

reference to the above movement in the Company’s BEHREWT
issued ordinary share capital is as follows:
Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
CEAT R B ) I8t 4y
¥ H JBe A% Tt 1 MR Ak
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F# F# F#x
At 1 April 2010 B2 -RENA—H 1,487,463,600 37,187 168,487 205,674
Share options exercised CUAT 5 B Ji % B 9,288,000 232 3,483 3,715
Transfer from share i JE R £ £ N
option reserve - - 1,409 1,409
At 31 March 2011 H_E——F=ZH=Z+—H
and 1 April 2011 ”_F——HFNHA—H 1,496,751,600 37,419 173,379 210,798
Share options exercised — T47 i [ i I B 1,620,000 40 580 620
Transfer from share i JRE R £ £ N
option reserve - - 230 230
At 31 March 2012 R-F—-_4H=ZH=+—H 1,498,371,600 37,459 174,189 211,648

Share options i B HE
Details of the Company’s share option schemes are

included in note 30 to the financial statements. 30

151 2011/12 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA 5 % 2 B
31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 30. W JBe BE vt

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 7 September
2011, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the existing share option scheme (the
“Old Scheme”) and the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “New Scheme”) (collectively known as
the “Schemes”). As a result, the Company can no
longer grant any further options under the Old Scheme.
However, all options granted prior to the termination
of the Old Scheme will remain in full force and effect.
Unless otherwise terminated or amended, the New
Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the date of

adoption.

The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the New Scheme include full-time employees, including
any executive and non-executive directors of the Group.
The New Scheme became effective on 7 September 2011
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain

in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the New Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as
at the date when the New Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company in a general meeting. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the New Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

MR —F——4FILA LA @B Rk
RS o AN ) B SR v A% b B A I TR T )
(TRt 1) B bR AR T JBCRE T ) (15t a8 1)
(R 2 [5HE 1) o e > A B AS ] AR 55
B wH BB T AL HE— B R - AR > A
Ak 8 i R4 T 6 B BB R B
R BARR < Frat# BSR4 H I 1048
A3 BrIE A b BB -

Wiat#lZ B > B 1B AR SR B AR 2 R
e hE Rk Z & #% 2 BE G T i A 5
JBh o HiEt B Z B2 T RS AREZ 2
WkOE B > QAR AT RIE BT - rat
IR =TI B H AR BRI RE
RESH BB R A > WA A A% R AR A
RO By 4 o

48507 5T ) 0 A0 2 AR AT R G R R
Bz im B » B —FEH SRR K
B b A oy ] B R e R R ) 2 H AR A ]
ELBEAT A B8 10% 2 3K 8 o AEAT AT+ {F
J3 300 ) 9 AR R B R > W BT Rl 2 AL
H s 2 BH W TR AT e Z g A
WH > PLARA R ARIEZ OB AT 1% 5
B o AT 7 b — 25 5% Hh i 26 0Lt B ) 2 St
JEHE B RO IR ROK & b ot o
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. Jik JBEBE w8 ()

Share options granted to a director, chief executive,
officer or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors and ends on a date which
is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the

share options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors, but should not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

BPARAFESR - FETBA BRI ERR
B ELEEZEMBR AL R A
F O L I BT T o BLAh > FEAEAT
T E AW A s 32TASA B R
VBT EFRBEESHZIEMHRALZ
AL A] P BE > BB AS 2 W) R IR 2 B AT AR
0.1%8% 4844 1 3615,000,000 45 7T (M 35 A 2 7]
W H W ) o AR R ROR
NS N iR

B 2 Bl M M WY 4% th O 14 H O
B> MR N AT BT n 2 % &R
1B o 2t % T M 2 AT 0 000 [ 26 9 o
RE > T %9 [ 2 A 0k HH o S A T B e
B il H BG4

Vil B RE AT O T O M A R T
FI=FZ e+ (i) Ao al IOy i i e ol 42
H S0 BB 22 P A AR A BT B 2 Wi R
(i) A 2> W) JBe A 3% B 452 1 390 i 4 22 55 H
TP U6 28 i T ik 2 P 3 e A 5 Rl AR A W)
JBe Ay T L

S 1B HEE S 488 K 5 N A TR O M SRR
T ERFEZHER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

S TEEA S
30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

31 March 2012

The following share options were outstanding under the

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B Ok A W

A

30. Ji B A st 0 (%)

P TR St > AR JBE G AR AT B A B A

Schemes during the year: T
2012 2011
e St 3 TR
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options | exercise price of options
A7 1848 ik DB (FE i Vi It e
T B - 34 B MEHE | s B H
HKS$ 000 HK$ ’000
per share per share
IR T TH BT T
At beginning of year THAER] 0.511 25,606 0.481 34,894
Exercised during the year RN AT 0.383 (1,620) 0.400 (9,288)
Lapsed during the year AN SR 0.790 (7,500) - —
At end of year FAEAR 0.397 16,486 0.511 25,606

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$0.307

(2011: HK$0.355) per share.
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31 March 2012

i

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

&

#

S TEEA S
30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

15

B Ok A W

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share

options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

A

30. Ji B A st 0 (%)

TR SR o T AR AT R B Y AT O AR B AT
BRI

2012
—® AR
Number of options Exercise price® Exercise period
ik JBE A % H A7 1 B+ A7 1838
per share
HKS$
IR T
240,000 0.165 07/06/2007 to 06/06/2012
16,245,600 0.400 03/09/2007 to 02/09/2012
16,485,600
2011
R

Number of options

Exercise price*

Exercise period

S IRt S H A7 1A AT 0E
per share
HK$
)R 78T
360,000 0.165 07/06/2007 to 06/06/2012
17,745,600 0.400 03/09/2007 to 02/09/2012
7,500,000 0.790 02/12/2008 to 01/12/2013
25,605,600

%

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated

into the measurement of fair value.

155

* AT B S AT IR AT o sk A2 A
P S AT 05 0D » IRHE 077  eCH  BE
T .

wt B AP RE IR o R 58 B 43 T i Jie i vy 3L

Annual Report

2011/12 ¥ils



i

@,
B

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
VA5 0 4 B ik

31 March 2012

S CAE=EH=—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

31.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 16,485,600 share options outstanding under the
Schemes. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 16,485,600
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of HK$412,000 and share premium of
HK$6,126,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 16,485,600 share options outstanding
under the Schemes, which represented approximately
1.10% of the Company’s shares in issues as at that date.

RESERVES

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the
excess of the nominal value of the shares and the
share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company’s shares, over the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.
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A

30. Ji B A st 0 (%)

31.

W EEWIR > %% 5B TN AA W BTSN
i JBE HE 716,485,600 o it A B F B & A
K5 > n LR AT AE A Y SR RE S8 R AT HE > AR
2\ % B 4716,485,600 8 45 405 78 Jit - 34 hn
JBe AR 75412,000% 7 F1 B A ¥ 18 756,126,000
WL CRMBREITEM) -

BB R M B > S8 T AR A F 5
17 AE A Y i B BE £ 16,485,600 » £ 8 A 4
VB H BB AT B 1.10% o

ot i

(a) A
AR B AR B T DLW AT JBE 2 fokk sk
Pl i 52 B C 25 AR B BE SR S ) o6 -

ARSI Z AR ERTIHRAEA LA T Bedy b
LR SN L iR Sy P e
e A TG AEL J% B A i B 30 2 2 #6856
WF i 2> ) = JBe o s 8 AT 2 A 4 B A v
fEHHE 2
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

31. RESERVES (continued) 31. i (&)
(b) Company (b) AAN]
Share Share
premium  Contributed option Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
Joe B B BB W PR BB W
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
13 T#L T#L T#7x T#x T#L
At 1 April 2010 RZZF—-FFNA—H 168,487 63,948 6,090 5,528 144,053
Total comprehensive income AV 2 T e A\ 44 46
for the year - - - 824 824
Issue of shares BT 29 3,483 - - - 3483
Transfer upon exercise ORI T O 17 0 1 4
of share options 29 1,409 - (1,409) - -
At 31 March 2011 and REF——E=ZA=+—H
1 April 2011 RZZ——HENH—H 173,379 63,948 4,681 6,352 248,360
Total comprehensive loss AR JE 2T R A
for the year - - - (1,189) (1,189)
Issue of shares BTG 29 580 - - - 580
Transfer upon exercise ORI Tt 1 17 0 1 4
of share options 29 230 - (230) - -
Transfer of share option N ¥R Y
reserve upon lapse T T R e
of share options - - (1,998) 1,998 -
At 31 March 2012 REB-ZHEZA=E—H 174,189 63,948 1453 7,161 2141751

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the nominal value of the shares of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company
may make distributions to its members out of the

contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

AT Z BABERTIRR AL B Ay L
AR 4 A 45 I A < R 4 ) I Ay
2 TH A A8 2 52 4 % S WA D 2 W) = e
T B AT Z A2 A e 4 i L 2 9 43 o AR
FRE LN R AT > RA R R
A TOLT B SONBAR b i JEB R AR th
IHIR e
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

31. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (continued)

31. fak s (%)
(b) A2 (#)
Sl B R A0 ¥R DA - R AT Y S A
WEZ A PR RE R > w8 SUA A 35 36

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of

share options granted which are yet to be exercised,

as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or

be forfeited.

Wk 2. 43 DL B A 2 B R B 32 A 22 5 it
B FRRE o R 0 BERE AT RE AR > AL HE
SRyt (UM > 3 R R L
B B JEAEAR WA DR B W A

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Acquisition of jointly-controlled entities (a)

32. B Bl A R WGk

W Ol 3T I % o) T

Year ended 31 March 2012

On 19 September 2011, the Group entered into
an acquisition agreement (the “Acquisition
Agreement”) with Mr. Fung Chuen (“Mr. Fung”),
an independent third party, to acquire 40% equity
interests of Team Great at a cash consideration of
HK$55,200,000 (the “Fungs Acquisition”). Team
Great, together with its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Fungs E&M Engineering Company Limited, are
principally engaged in electrical and building services
engineering works in Hong Kong. The completion

of the Fungs Acquisition took place on 2 December

2011.
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31 March 2012
32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

S SEEAT A

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

N

7

32. f3 4 Bl AU B W (%)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a) Acquisition of jointly-controlled entities (continued)

(b)

Year ended 31 March 2012 (continued)

The assets and liabilities acquired by the Group on

the date of completion were as follows:

(a)

Wi I I o) T 8 (40D
BRE-Z-"SE=ZA=ZT—HIL4E
(%)

S8 )8 3174 45 18 Ffe WA S A £ A
T

HK$’000
TF# T
The Group’s share of net identifiable A A ] A ) R R
assets at fair value WA FEE 28,579
Goodwill T 26,621
Satisfied by cash VLB 4 3 A 55,200
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents & KRB E&FHY R
included in cash flows from BIEEREXEBZBSME
investing activities 55,200

Acquisition of a subsidiary that is not a business

Year ended 31 March 2011

On 25 January 2011, the Group entered into a sale

and purchase agreement with Mr. So Kwok Keung
(“Mr. So”), an independent third party of the

Group, for the acquisition of the entire issued share

capital of Keeprich Limited (“Keeprich”) and its

shareholders’ loans (the “Properties Acquisition”)
at a cash consideration of HK$28,834,000. The
Properties Acquisition was completed on 26

January 2011 and Keeprich became a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Group.
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(b)

WO i 5% 5 v Y O 4

BRE-Z-—4=Z4=1T—HIL4EE
W-F——F—H_Z1HHKEH
S B e 2k (TR S8 A 1) (AR 4R I Y
WL AR =) AT oL B A ek o DL WO
Keeprich Limited ([ Keeprich ]) ] 2x#
T3 A7 I AR R B 3R e ik (14 3 Wi
HIH ) o A B B4 AUE %5 28,834,000%
JC o WEBIHFIH KR R ——F—
H =+ H5EM > MiKeeprich & & %
A 55 0 i 4 R R A )
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary that is not a business

32. &4 B4 O LR B (A1)

(b) W 3 3 5 0y Y o 2 ) (D)

(continued)

Year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)

Up to the completion date of the Properties
Acquisition, Keeprich had not carried out any
significant business activities except for the entering
into of certain provisional sale and purchase
agreements for the acquisition of certain units in

a block of building at Wood Road, Hong Kong.

BE A=A =1 —H IR (5)
R 3 WO F ISR H %0k > BRET
37 T B IR B A A9 DA A v i i —
JAE A ) 2 T BLALAD 5 Keeprich i 4
ATAEAT B R EF T B o A Keeprich
SRR N AR — TR > BRI > AR
A A 3 WAL B o LA s O WAL AR o

Accordingly, the Properties Acquisition has been
accounted for by the Group as an acquisition of assets
as the activities of Keeprich did not constitute a
business.

TR I H AT > A4 T WA O S A £

The assets and liabilities acquired by the Group on

the date of completion were as follows: B
HK$’000
F#x
Deposits HES 28,834
Loans from Mr. So R Sl 2R SR A 1 B K (28,890)
Net liabilities A A (56)
Settlement of loans owed 18 3 Keeprich HE £+ #% 6 4 1 B 3K
by Keeprich to Mr. So 28,890
Satisfied by cash VLB 4 S A 28,834
Net outflow of cash and BE KRB EFMHY TR
cash equivalents included BIFEREREG B &R
in cash flows from investing activities (28,834)
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

At 31 March 2012, the guarantees given
by the Group to certain banks in respect of

performance bonds in favour of certain contract
customers amounted to HK$63,317,000 (2011:
HK$32,102,000).

At 31 March 2012, the Company has given
guarantees in favour of certain banks to the extent
of HK$1,892,304,000 (2011: HK$1,590,167,000) in
respect of banking facilities granted by those banks
to certain subsidiaries of the Company, of which
HK$947,955,000 (2011: HK$730,448,000) was

utilised.

In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction
business, the Group has been subject to a number of
claims due to personal injuries suffered by employees
of the Group or the Group’s subcontractors in
accidents arising out of and in the course of their
employment. The directors are of the opinion that
such claims are well covered by insurance and would
not result in any material adverse impact on the
financial position or results and operations of the

Group.
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WoB—-THEZHA=Z—H  AEER
BTENERZBARBGGTHT
SRAT By 9B 18 863,317,000 78 (&
——4F 132,102,000 78) °

Mo —-THEZAZ+—H > RKAF
HTHATHR T ARA R THEA R Z 8
1715 B AUk BU401,892,304,0003 7T (—
F——4 1 1,590,167,000% J0) [ #% %
SRATME HAEAR - A BIMHE A W C B A 3t
o2 SR AT A5 B %H947,955,000% 78 (=&
——4F : 730,448,000 7T ) °

TEARRMZ H WS RED > 5T
AR I A AR T 43 U 7 2 i PR 3% i
] 780 708 TR A1 DA B 52 455 i 1 AR 4 [ R A
P B R R R R Bz 2 R
B> WO B R R o AR AR [ B BOIR
EE S V& S 2 AR PN Y]
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31 March 2012

S SEEAT A

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(a) As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note

N

34. BEBEMBE R

(a) fEhmALA
A 45 T AL A L O e B L L B
¥ (WEEL6) » M 2 MM B — 5

16) under operating lease arrangements, with leases

negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.

The terms of the leases generally also require the

tenants to pay rental deposits.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had total future

minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants falling due as

follows:

AR o MR MOR IR AP A
BEE-

REF-ZEZA=EH O REEM
{30 BELHL AR N 8T R AT B R AL
T AT 2 158 B AL e I REL 5 o sk A A

T

Group
A
2012 2011
e =
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#xL T T
Within one year —4E R 20,155 12,712
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 ~ZHT4F (B EHRWA) 18,564 2,037
38,719 14,749
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31 March 2012

SESESAZS A

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

(b) As lessee

N

34. MEME L (H)

(b) MRy RALA
AR AR 4 A L B PR AL T

The Group leases certain of its office properties

under operating lease arrangements. Leases for

properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one

to four years.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had total future

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

K3k o MW E Z MNP
— R4 o

REB-ZHEZAZ+—H > REER
PR AT R A T B 2 H AR A

operating leases falling due as follows: BARFE MR T -
Group
A H
2012 2011
it St SR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#T
Within one year —4EN 5,001 3,375
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 ~ 258 F4FE (B H R W) 3,324 702
8,325 4,077
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. WA ARG
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed B b SR 34 (b) 3 At i 4% 7 #H B AR R A -
in note 34(b) above, the Group had the following capital PRI > AL EAE DL E ARG ¢

commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Group
= 3
2012 2011
S| cEes
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T#T
Expenditure for development or MU THECELN
redevelopment projects, contracted, H AR 43 5 2 3% g 5
but not provided for, in respect of: HEHHE Z X
Hotel under construction AE = i )k 48,496 5,353
Properties held for sale FERLEZWE 3,035 95
Properties under development BRpY ¥ 62,420 -
Investment properties wEY ¥k - 3,268
Acquisition of a property WP SRR A )
holding company* - 320,000
113,951 328,716
* The relevant acquisition agreement was terminated on 31 August * FH A B 7 A BRI A0 v IR T P AT A T B0 T
2011 because certain conditions precedent to the acquisition I E T AU Ht s AREWEG ST
agreement could not be fulfilled by the seller within the time R _R——FEN\A=Z+—HEIL -
allowed.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had

12 = ——_4#E=H=4+—H

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

7

36. BT R Y
(a)  BRIMAC A s 8 LA T4 BT e 2 3 2
R 5 BAEER AN » AR A AR JE 7 8 B

the following transactions with related parties during BT AT ARG
the year:
Group
A4 M
2012 2011
e St 3 e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt it T# i F#oc
Rental income from Lanon RS RA R A A
Development Limited ([3E%E ) Wz
(“Lanon”) el A (i) 1,704 1,420
Management fee income received A6 74 S5 [ — 3k ) e 1)
and receivable from Excel-China MR
Harbour Joint Venture, Vi A T 7 A B
a jointly-controlled entity FEW S B A
of the Group (ii) 250 2,220
Subcontracting fee expense paid and I %2 B B R T FR
payable to ARAFR K
Able E&M Engineering Company HRHEE TR
Limited and Fungs E&M HIRAF (FHE
Engineering Company Limited, T A4 1 3L R
Both are jointly-controlled entities FEHERS) O K
of the Group JE A+ Z 43 ) B 2 (iii) 99,685 42,528
Notes: Mt

(i)

(ii

(iii)

)

Mr. Ngai Wing Yin, the son of Mr. Ngai Chun Hung, who is

the chairman of the board of directors of the Company and
a controlling shareholder of the Company, has a controlling
interest in Lanon. The rental income was determined at
a rate mutually agreed between the Group and Lanon by

reference to the prevailing market rate.

the costs incurred.

The management fee income is determined with reference to

The subcontracting fee expense is determined with reference

(it)

(iii)

to subcontracting fees charged by third party companies

offering similar services.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

37.

36. A TR 5 ()

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) A48 1 = 2245 BN B Bl 4
Group
Group
A4
2012 2011
e St 3 R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Short term employee benefits %5 B {8 B & # 38,658 29,410
Post-employment benefits TR T A% 1 ) 216 418
Total compensation paid to XA T EEEAR
key management personnel 1) A8l 38,874 29,828

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included

in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transaction in respect of item (a)(i)
above also constitutes a continuing connected transaction

as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include
borrowings, accounts and other receivables, accounts
and other payables and bank balances. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes

to the financial statements.

The Group’s ordinary activities expose it to various
financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The risks associated with financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. Management monitors closely
the Group’s exposures to financial risks to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

A B 2 G R — B R > ORI

A i RES

A7 B 2t (a) (i) JEL R B g 5 22 5 A A Ok B
TR0 58 - DU AT A A F5 A B AL 5

37. W8 B 4T BIL H B B BOR

A Y 32 B Ak TR B A AR - HE IR K
B S At 8 Ok I~ M A R R % L b M A K
> DA SRATAEBR o A B SE h T R A
18 > A5 38 R 9 45 B B S S 4 R

A 55 [ Y 38 35 B 0 L 2R v 2 2 R B
B o A 35 I 3 B~ A5 R B R 9L 38
B o I < L A B DA B o A % S
R A B o AT ST o A L i
2SR [ o T 3k i A 5 L > DL R O R

28 Bk U 45 o

166 2 0 1 1 I 1 2 %“fg%%lé}eport
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. WA B 45 B H B R BB (4H)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt

obligations with floating interest rates.

At 31 March 2012, it is estimated that an increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease/increase
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
HK$1,847,000 (2011: HK$1,339,000), arising as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on the Group’s floating-
rate borrowings. There would be no impact on other

components of the Group’s equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period. For the purposes of
the analysis, it is assumed that the amount of variable-
rate borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding throughout the whole year. The
25 basis point increase or decrease represents management
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the reporting date of the next

financial year. The analysis was performed on the same

basis for the year ended 31 March 2011.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
bank balances and time deposits, accounts and other
receivables. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure
at 31 March 2012 in the event of other parties failing
to perform their obligations is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

RSN
A5 18 P TG A R T A5 ) 5 5 ) Y DL e 2
A B A 45 [ B A 3 B R R A BT o

MR -THEZAZE o M AR
Bahm WA 25 AL o A A T AR R
5 5 B P A A 45 TV 580 ) AN sk R BR 32
Bahm WA s A 5 I BB AR R R B AR B
R A HE 1,847,000 76 (—F ——4F ¢
1,339,000% 70) o A4 R 25 1 I il A1 B
DA 2B -

e A R BE 3 T 0 A1 R RS T i A
R o Ty MEAT T > MBSO W AR WG R
AR A T ) i R < R A 4F P9 3 1 R A
B o WS AL A A B A KRR EET
Al B B4 R H 9 S0 T P B T
B FEAL c RE-F——F=A=1+—H
b4 B I DA ) 2 3 47 23 A

1 £ B

AR I £ B L i B AR A BRAT A R R 2
K~ M SR R B L At MEWSCR I = v o 3 At
i ANREIEATIL R H > ARG R A=
H = H R d v A7 B RO R 4%
TR S A Ak S IR 00 A R i B R T A
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. WA B 45 B H B R BB (4H)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing
basis. The Group’s accounts receivable from contract
work represent interim payments or retentions certified
by the customers under terms as stipulated in the
contracts and the Group does not hold any collateral
over these receivables. As the Group’s customers in
respect of contract work primarily consist of government
departments and developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the
risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract work is
not significant. In respect of rentals receivable, to limit
the credit risk exposure, deposits are required of each
tenant upon inception of the leases and monthly rentals
are received in advance. Payments from each tenant are

monitored and collectability is reviewed closely.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had certain concentrations
of credit risk as 28% (2011: 24%) and 76% (2011:
76%) of the total accounts receivable were due from
the Group’s largest external customer and the Group’s
five largest external customers, respectively, within the

contract works segment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 23, respectively,

to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term. In addition, banking facilities have been

put in place for contingency purposes.

1% 2 B (47)

L o R N R A A SR M A T
e B3R o ACHE BB Wk 2 B A TRRHR K
Hy AR 20 T R Ak S AT B TR A ke
PARZE R DR B K o Bt iE S HE sk > ACER I
RFFACATHRS G o REE B G0 TRE P
B AR BOG R BA KB R 5
JR v B R WO R s o A BB M BT HE W
ZEH TR WA K o A B 4
Ay PG T 3 P 7 B R B > A AR S 2R AL
PR 4ty A R2 e > T AL I BT A WAL o AR
B AR P B RS DL > TR B IAR
w2 A7 AT DI o

REF-HEEZHA=E—H HREAHAL
T 43 e > 0 M8 WA K o BRI 28% (R ——
A1 24%) KT76% (—F——4F 1 76%) 43 Bl HE
WA SR 1 1 doe R A A % P A 4 B TR A
AP s N AR B TS B b UK o

B A 55 D R AR sk e Al O WA sk I i 1k
S A A 5 L B G o — 5 AL M BE > 4 I AE
BT a2 2235z -

L ) ¥ 4 e B

A5 ] G B SR s ) B 4 B R T R B
ST B > DU DRIL M 5 2 S BL 5 3 Je Ak A
R I TR R A R > DL
R R R E S ST o 1> K
EE IS R RATREE B > ARG
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

N

7

37. WA B 45 B H B R BB (4H)

U ) 2 4 e B (1)
NS A S A 4 BB R R B R

The following table details the remaining contractual

maturities at the end of the reporting period of the

Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating,

BRE A - TRIAMB A ARTEB SRR
(B35 DA £ 29 ) 3 o o 37 T8 ) 0> AR B Y
e oh 9 AR A 38 A R 3R A A AR ) T B
B > % 5 G AR T AR B A SR I T REZEUAE AR

based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) B H
and the earliest date that the Group could be required to
repay:
Group
A4
Within 1 Between Between
year or on 1and 2 2 and 5 Over
demand years years 5 years Total
E %]
AR ER 12248 2% 54 SAER Hm
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#7T T T T
At 31 March 2012 W_F—-ZH=ZH=+—H
Interest-bearing bank FFE SRAT Bk
loans (note) (Hfit) 455,739 214,248 76,558 179,433 925,978
Accounts payable JRE A W ik 519,216 28,696 19,841 - 567,753
Other payables (note 26) oAt JE A5 3k (B E26) 18,573 - - - 18,573
Due to a jointly-controlled JRE A 38 ] 42 )
entity HHRH 17,542 - - - 17,542
1,011,070 242,944 96,399 179,433 1,529,846
At 31 March 2011 W_F—-—=Z4=1+—H
Interest-bearing bank loans Al R BRAT B 239,117 126,040 145,111 164,574 674,842
Accounts payable JRE A+ B K 316,823 17,762 7,963 - 342,548
Other payables (note 26) JC At E A 3K (W 7E26) 12,278 - - - 12,278
Due to a jointly-controlled JRE A 2L ] 42 il
entity B KE 14,313 - - - 14,313
582,531 143,802 153,074 164574 1,043,981
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Group (continued)

A5 (57

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank loans are certain term loans in
the aggregate amount of HK$166,320,000. The loan agreements of
these term loans contain a repayment on-demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total
amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that the related loans will be called in their entirety within
12 months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the
terms of the loans, the contractual undiscounted payments are as

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. WA B 45 B H B R BB (4H)

L ) 4 e ()

Mk« 5 EERAT SR B T Bk A 3t
166,320,000% JC  #% % & 1 £ K 0 88 5 o
AR TR BB AT R AR B T ERATIE
2 ME R o T B B R > R s A
TRBH] ERPUTT S > SARAM S THRBER ] o

A LR > EHEAE > A RO
AER12MEA WA > R A
B B M AR 4 K th e P BT R )
HORCIER o G4 TS5 I 20« AR [ T 25 i
A A F I S BEIR DL - AR AT
BT~ WK BRI > DA RACSE
IR A8 9T A S T 2 O A o AR e B I A6
Ko AHRTBARWT

follows:
2012
HK$’000
T#
Within one year or on demand 4R Y SRR 303,853
Between 1 and 2 years 1 FE 24 304,217
Between 2 and 5 years 2E 54 116,205
Over 5 years 541R 205,233
929,508

In addition, as disclosed in note 33(a), at the reporting
date, the Group has given financial guarantees to banks in
respect of performance bonds issued in favour of contract
customers on behalf of certain subsidiaries of the Group
to the extent of HK$63,317,000 (2011: HK$32,102,000).
In the event of the failure of those subsidiaries to fulfil
their obligations under the relevant contracts, the Group
may be required to pay up to the guaranteed amounts
to the banks upon demand. Management considers it
is not probable that the Group will be required to pay
for any claim under these financial guarantees for the

performance bonds.

BEAh » o B k33 (a) P 4 B > ARG H O
AR R EAREE ST W E AR &A%
PR 2 B AR 4T ST I B s AR
63,317,000% ¢ (=& ——4 : 32,102,000%
JC) o fi 5 % A M A R R BRI AT AR 5 R A
B A 40 W BEAT » A 1 WYl 2 JRE BRI g 4R
TEAATRBHER - FRER R > AR
A Ao B 28 R A A 2 i 440 DR 5 1 3 7
M3 bk B B AR S A & o

170 2 0 1 1 I 1 2 %n&l%%lﬂ;eport
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. WA B 45 B H B R BB (4H)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Company

All of the Company’s financial liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are repayable within one year or on

demand.

In addition, as disclosed in note 33(a), the Company
has given financial guarantees to banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to subsidiaries of the Company,
of which HK$947,955,000 (2011: HK$730,448,000) was
utilised at the reporting date. In the event of the failure
of those subsidiaries to fulfil their obligations under
these banking facilities, the Company may be required
to pay up to the guaranteed amounts to the banks upon
demand. Management considers it is not probable that
the Company will be required to pay for any claim under

these financial guarantees.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance
the Group’s overall capital structure through new share

issues as well as raising new debts or repayment of existing

debts.

L ) 4 e ()

AR

TR - AR R A k5RO 2R
NIRRT R -

BEAN > S B EE33 () T B8R » AR W AR 2
) B 2 ) M 4R 2 SR AT A B AR 1 SRAT AR
B FE SO » R B BRI A W 2
B 3 28R 4745 B 4947,955,000% 76 (—
F——4E 1 730,448,000 J0) © W F5 % L5 M
JE 23 B AR RE R AT A B R B SRAT AR BRI
BT » A2 ] 7T 6 28 HE 2R 1 $RAT 32 A B
TRAEMEH - WHERE » AKX REE M
R B R AR 20 BB AR B8 bk WA 5 s R S A
g °

Haw

AHE I B A A BRI R B H B - BB
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2012 =& —_4E=H=4+—H

37.

38.

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio
derived from the consolidated statement of financial
position. The following table analyses the Group’s capital
structure as at 31 March 2012:

37. WA B 45 B H B R BB (4H)

¥aR(4)

ACER AR B2 B A A B IR D0 Wit Y
TR RREREE S - TRAALEMR
FTEZAZT HE AR Z 5T

2012 2011

e Y =

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tl Ft

Total interest-bearing bank loans AT B RAT B 884,637 641,326
Less: Pledged time deposits Wk BRI W AE K (1,075) (1,075)
Cash and cash equivalents B4 LB &S HEY (359,326) (283,886)

Net borrowings AR K 524,236 356,365
Total equity AR 2 1,118,029 898,315
Net gearing ratio HAE AR L R 47% 40%
COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 38. B ¥

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to

conform with the current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 15 June 2012.

Ay T LA BE R B DRFE —B B LR
e i

39. B W RZ A

AMBHRERCHR - FEANA LA KH
2R A o SN 4 R A
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